
 

AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
Thursday, February 20, 2020 

7:00 PM 
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
232 W. Sierra Madre Boulevard 
Sierra Madre, California 91024 

 
 

ROLL CALL 

Chair Hutt, Vice-chair Denison, Commissioners Catalano, Dallas, Desai, Pevsner, Spears 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Majority vote of the Commission to proceed with Commission business 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. February 6, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 

COMMUNITY INPUT 

At this time, any person may address the Planning Commission concerning an item that is not on the 
Agenda.  The Commission welcomes your attendance and participation.  When addressing the 
Commission, please begin by providing your name and address for the record.  Please keep comments 
to no more than five minutes to assure an orderly and timely meeting. 

Copies of the Agenda are available for your convenience at the rear of the Council Chambers.  State 
legislation (Govt. Code Section 54954.2) limits the Commission’s ability to take action on specific 
requests.  Govt. Code Section 54954.2 limits the placement of items on the Agenda for action 72 hours 
prior to meetings, except for specific findings. 

No action or discussion may be undertaken by the Planning Commission on any item if not posted on the 
Agenda, except that Commissioners or staff may briefly respond to statements made or questions posed 
by the public, or a Commissioner or staff liaison may ask a question for clarification, or make a brief report 
on his or her own activities.  A Commissioner or the Commission itself may provide a reference to staff 
to report back to the Commission at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter or may direct staff to 
place a matter of business on a future agenda. 

PRESENTATION 

1. 2020 STATE LEGISLATIVE UPDATE – SENATE BILL 330 HOUSING CRISIS ACT OF 2019 (part 
two) 

One of the components of the bill would prohibit a county or city from enacting a development policy, 
standard, or condition, that would have the effect of imposing or enforcing new design standards 
established on or after January 1, 2020, that are not objective standards.  This bill is effective 
January 1, 2020 through January 1, 2025.   



 

PUBLIC HEARING 

Disclosure of Site Visits and Ex-parte Contracts 
Disclosure by Commissioners of site visits and Ex-parte Contracts 

1. HILLSIDE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 15-20 (HDP 15-20) AND CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 15-
21 (CUP 15-21) 

Address:  1 Nathanial Terrace (Lot 9) 
Applicant:  Robert Ho 
Continued from November 21, 2019 
 
The Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing to consider a request for HDP 15-20 and 
CUP 15-21 to allow the construction of a new two-story single-family residence with an attached 
two-car garage for a total of 3,956 square feet.  Pursuant to City of Sierra Madre Municipal Code 
Section 17.52.070.C.2, construction of a single-family dwelling unit in the Hillside Management 
Zone requires approval of a HDP.  Pursuant to Condition of Approval No. 159 of Tract Map 54016, 
any development which can be seen from the location of the Macomber Cabin, Carter Barn or the 
Willis Estate is subject to a CUP to ensure that the development contrasts with the design of these 
cultural resources, and to protect these cultural resources by distinguishing them from their non-
historic context. 

2. DESIGN REVIEW PERMIT 19-06 (DRP 19-06)  

Address:  1910 Santa Anita Avenue 
Applicant:  PDS Studio Inc. 

 
The Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing to consider a request for DRP 19-06 to 
allow the construction of a new two-story single-family residence with an attached two-car garage 
for a total of 3,462 square feet.  Pursuant to SMMC Section 17.20.027.B, any new single-family 
construction proposed to include a second story requires a design review permit; and pursuant to 
Section 17.20.027.C.3, a Design Review Permit is required to allow any new construction with 
allowable gross floor area for all structures on a single lot greater than seven thousand five hundred 
one to eleven thousand square feet that exceeds 3,000 square feet of floor area. 

DISCUSSION 

None 

  
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORTS 

PLANNING & COMMUNITY PRESERVATION STAFF REPORTS 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

 

 



 

If you require special assistance to participate in this meeting, please call the City Manager’s Office at 
626-355-7135 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

 

 
INFORMATION TO THE PUBLIC 

 
The Planning Commission will consider the last item at 10:30 p.m. and they will adjourn the meeting by 11:00 p.m.  
The Planning Commission will continue all unfinished business to an adjourned meeting on the following Thursday 
at 7:00 p.m. or to a different time and date certain. 
 
Copies of the Agenda are available for your convenience at the rear of the Council Chambers.  State legislation 
(Govt. Code Section 54954.2) limits the Planning Commission’s ability to take action on specific requests.  Govt. 
Code Section 54954.2 limits the placement of items on the Agenda for action 72 hours prior to meetings, except for 
specific findings. 
 
No action or discussion may be undertaken by the Planning Commission on any item if not posted on the agenda, 
except that Commissioners or staff may briefly respond to statements made or questions posed by the public, a 
Council member or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a brief report 
on his or her own activities.  A Commissioner or the Planning Commission itself may provide a reference to staff to 
report back to the Planning Commission at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter or may direct staff to place 
a matter of business on a future agenda. 

REQUIRED FINDINGS 
 
Conditional Use Permit and Variance considerations are “quasi-judicial” decisions made by the Planning 
Commission.  As such, these decisions may be challenged in court.  Accordingly, courts require an adequate 
“record” to exercise judicial review.  This means that the documentation supporting the approval or denial of a 
project must include an explanation of how the Planning Commission processed the raw information and evidence 
considered in reaching its decision.  The California Supreme Court has laid down distinct, definitive principles of 
law detailing the need for findings when a public agency approves or denies a project while acting in a “quasi-
judicial” roll.  This decision is based upon the case, Topanga Assoc. For a Scenic Community v. County of Los 
Angeles (“Topanga”). The “Topanga” court outlined the following 5 purposes for making findings: 
-  Provide a framework for making principled decisions, enhancing the integrity of the administrative process; 
-  Facilitate orderly analysis and reduce the likelihood the agency will randomly leap from evidence to conclusions; 
-  Serve a public relations function by helping to persuade the parties that the administrative decision making is 
careful, reasoned, and equitable; 
-  Enable the parties to determine whether and on what basis they should seek judicial review and remedies; and, 
-  Apprise the reviewing court of the basis for the agency’s decision. 
For more information on the necessary “Findings” that the Planning Commission must make, please contact the 
Development Services Department at (626) 355-7138.  
(Source:  Curtin’s California Land Use & Planning Law, Daniel) 

  



Item Attachment Documents: 

 

1. Review of the minutes of the February 6, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting 

  



CITY OF SIERRA MADRE 1 

PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 2 

Regular Meeting of 3 

Thursday, February 6, 2020 at 7:00 p.m. 4 

City Council Chambers, 232 W. Sierra Madre Blvd. 5 

 6 

 7 

CALL TO ORDER  8 

 9 

Chair called the meeting to order at 7:02 pm 10 

 11 

ROLL CALL    12 

 13 

Present: Chair Hutt, Vice Chair Denison, Commissioners Dallas, Desai, 14 

 Pevsner, Spears 15 

Absent Commissioner Catalano 16 

 17 

Staff:   Vincent Gonzalez, Director of Planning and Community Preservation 18 

                      Jennifer Peterson, Administrative Analyst 19 

 Aleks R. Giragosian, Assistant City Attorney 20 

 21 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 22 

 23 

Chair Hutt proposed to move the Parking discussion so that it would be heard first.  Vice 24 

Chair Denison moved to amend the agenda as proposed, Commissioner Spears 25 

seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.   26 

 27 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF JANUARY 16, 2020 28 

 29 

Vice Chair Denison moved to approve the minutes, Commissioner Spears seconded.  30 

Motion carried.  31 

Commissioner Pevsner abstained. 32 

 33 

AUDIENCE COMMENTS 34 

 35 

Joshua Wolf 36 

Introduce Dr. So Ra Baek and Cal Poly Planning Students.   37 

 38 

Dr. So Ra Baek 39 

Dr. So Ra Baek shared the student’s area of study and how it relates to Sierra Madre. 40 

DISCUSSION 41 

1. DISCUSSION REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 42 

17.36–COMMERCIAL ZONE OFF-STREET PARKING AND CHAPTER 17.68–43 

PARKING 44 

  45 



Planning Commission Minutes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Page 2 
February 6, 2020 

 

Chair Hutt explained that tonight’s meeting is comprised of discussion items which are 46 

less formal than public hearings.  He invited the audience to feel free to participate.   47 

 48 

The Commission considered amending the residential parking requirements so that it 49 

would be determined by a curb to curb storefront width calculation for public parking 50 

allowance for tenant space.   51 

 52 

The Commission agreed by consensus to also consider calculating parking requirements 53 

based on habitable space, with thresholds similar to those for design review.  54 

 55 

They also agreed to eliminate language referring to covered or not covered, leaving that 56 

specification to the underlying zoning. 57 

 58 

They agreed by consensus that they would like to have input from the Police and Fire 59 

Departments. 60 

 61 

Action: The existing subcommittee will work on the items above, and return with a 62 

draft ready for Public Hearing.   63 

 64 

The Planning Commission took a 10 minute recess.  65 

 66 

PRESENTATION 67 

1.  2020 STATE LEGISLATIVE UPDATE – SENATE BILL 330 HOUSING CRISIS ACT 68 

OF 2019 69 

Presentation by Assistant City Attorney Giragosian.  70 

DISCUSSION 71 

2. DISCUSSION REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 72 

17.36 COMMERCIAL ZONE 73 

The Commission struggled with what they felt was unclear and inconsistent direction 74 

from City Council.  They also felt that there were revisions to the code presented this 75 

evening that they could not recall having discussed earlier.   76 

They considered requesting the City Council for a joint study session. 77 

Chair Hutt stated that he would prefer to review the previous and proposed code in a 78 

side by side red-line format.  79 

Chair Hutt noted that in the proposed code, all new residential construction would 80 

require a Conditional Use Permit.   He expressed concern that the City could run afoul 81 

of the department of Housing and Community Development with that requirement. 82 

 83 



Planning Commission Minutes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Page 3 
February 6, 2020 

 

It was also pointed out that if there is no regulation of storefront uses, then residential 84 

uses would be allowed in storefronts.   85 

 86 

Chair Hutt felt that the changes in 17.36.030 are confusing and contradictory.   He also 87 

did not understand the need for Planning Commission review for Tenant Improvement 88 

projects.  89 

 90 

Chair Hutt noted that he was also confused by the exclusion of Montecito in this code 91 

revision as he recalls that the only reason to consider them separate was to ensure the 92 

codes cross reference. 93 

 94 

Oral Communication 95 

 96 

Audience 97 

None.  98 

 99 

Planning Commission 100 

Commissioner Spears inquired of the amount of anticipated projects in response to the 101 

lifting of the water meter moratorium. 102 

  103 

Director Gonzalez expects that the Stonehouse development and a several lot splits 104 

would be submitting applications soon.  105 

 106 

Staff  107 

Director Gonzalez stated that the next Planning Commission meeting is scheduled for 108 

February 20, 2020. The Assistant City Attorney will provide a presentation—part two of 109 

SB 330 legislative update. The Commission will conduct design review on one new 110 

single-family structure and one continued project.    111 

 112 

Chair Hutt adjourned the meeting at 10:30 p.m. 113 

 114 

 115 

______________________________________ 116 

Secretary to the Planning Commission 117 

Vincent Gonzalez, Director of Planning & Community Preservation 118 



Item Attachment Documents: 

 

1. The Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing to consider a request for DRP 19-06 to allow the 

construction of a new two-story single-family residence with an attached two-car garage for a total of 3,462 

square feet.  Pursuant to SMMC Section 17.20.027.B, any new single-family construction proposed to 

include a second story requires a design review permit; and pursuant to Section 17.20.027.C.3, a Design 

Review Permit is required to allow any new construction with allowable gross floor area for all structures 

on a single lot greater than seven thousand five hundred one to eleven thousand square feet that exceeds 

3,000 square feet of floor area. 

  



  

1, 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE: February 20, 2020  
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Clare Lin, Associate Planner 
 
REVIWED BY:  Vincent Gonzalez, Director 
 
  
SUBJECT: Design Review Permit 19-06 (DRP 19-06) to allow the construction 

of a new 3,462-square-foot two-story single family residence with 
an attached 2-car garage on the property located at 1910 North 
Santa Anita Avenue 

   

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve Design Review Permit 19-06 pursuant to Planning Commission Resolution 20-
01 with attached conditions of approval. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 

The Planning Commission may: 

1. Approve the request for Design Review Permit 19-06 pursuant to Planning 
Commission Resolution 20-01, subject to the conditions of approval; 

2. Approve the request for Design Review Permit 19-06 with modifications; 

3. Deny the request for Design Review Permit 19-06 citing the reasons and findings for 
denial; 

4. Continue the subject project, and provide direction to staff and applicant. 

 

 

 

 
Planning Commission  

STAFF REPORT 

John Hutt, Chair 
Thomas Denison, Vice-Chair 
Joseph Catalano, Commissioner 
Peggy Dallas, Commissioner 
Manish Desai, Commissioner 
William Pevsner, Commissioner 
Bob Spears, Commissioner 
 
Vincent Gonzalez, Director  

Planning & Community Preservation  



DRP 19-06 
February 20, 2020 
Page 2 

 

 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The applicants, PDS Studio, is requesting that the Planning Commission consider  Design 
Review Permit 19-06 (DRP 19-06) to demolish an existing single family structure to 
accommodate the construction of a new 3,462-square-foot two-story single family 
residence with an attached 2-car garage. Pursuant to SMMC Section 17.20.027.B and 
C.2, a Design Review Permit is required: 1) for any new construction proposed to include 
a second story; 2) to allow any new construction with allowable gross floor area for all 
structures on lot areas from seven thousand five hundred to eleven thousand square feet 
that exceeds 3,000 square feet of floor area. 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve DRP 19-06 pursuant to 
Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 with conditions of approval.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The subject property is a 10,855 square-foot trapezoid-shaped lot located in the R-1 Zone 
(Single Family Residential) with a General Plan Land Use Designation of RL (Residential 
Low Density). The adjacent properties to the north, east, south and west are also zoned 
R-1, and the property is bounded by one-story single family homes. The neighborhood 
consists of predominantly single-story, single-family residences.  The average top one-
third of the homes have an average 
of 2,913 square feet.  This 
calculation excludes garage floor 
area.  The neighborhood analysis is 
attached herein as Exhibit E.  
 
The existing property has a single-
story 1,696-square-foot structure 
and a detached 380-square-foot 2-
car garage built in 1952. Since the 
structures are less than 75 years of 
age, demolition is not subject to the 
discretionary demolition permit and 
historical resource evaluation report 
requirements.  
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Criteria for Review of the Proposed Project  
 
The proposed project involves the demolition of all structures on site for new construction 
of a house of 3,040 square feet and attached 2-car garage of 422 square feet, totaling a 
3,462-square-foot, two-story, single family residence exceeds 3,500 square feet of floor 
area. Pursuant to SMMC Section 17.20.027.B and C.2, a Design Review Permit is 

Vicinity Map 



DRP 19-06 
February 20, 2020 
Page 3 

 

 

 
 

required for any new construction proposed to include a second story; and, to allow any 
new construction with allowable gross floor area for all structures on lot areas from 7,500 
to 11,000 square feet that exceeds 3,000 square feet of floor area. 
 
Proposed Project 
 
The proposed building is L-shaped with a two-story program on the north side against 
hillside, and one-story element with covered front porch and exposed trellis for the rear 
yard on the south side.  The main house footprint is rectangular and includes 4 bedrooms, 
3 bathrooms, living room, family room, dining room, kitchen, powder room, and 2-car 
attached garage. The overall height of the primary structure is 21’-10” with a hip and gable 
roof configuration at 3.5:12 roof pitch.  The prevailing front yard setback is 35 feet, and 
the cumulative side yard setback is 31’-7”, greater than 30% of the lot width, and the rear 
yard is 15’-8” feet. The garage is 37’- 6” from the front property line. 
 
Architecture, building form, and materials 
 
The two-story residence is designed in ranch architectural style with an asymmetrical 
primary elevation facing Santa Anita Avenue. The house exhibits characteristics of ranch 
style for the suburban lots: ground-hugging with low pitched roof and deep eaves, multiple 
expanses of glass in horizontal window and sliding glass doors, one-room deep L-shaped 
to surround the patio and landscape features that integrated into the landscape, and a 
garage to accommodate cars. The overall massing of the building is compatible and 
proportional to the neighborhood, and follows the contours of the land. The two-story 
element is against the hillside next to the two story home to the north, and single-story 
elements at the lower slope to the south that reduces the bulk of the massing thereby 
minimizing privacy issues.  
 
The proposed project includes low-pitched hip gable with concrete roof tiles, horizontal 
wood sidings, fiberglass windows with wood window casing, stacked stone-veneer, wood 
railings, gabled vents and ranch style garage doors.  The design and materials are 
consistent throughout the entire site. The color palette is primarily earth tone.  The exterior 
walls are finished with sand-finish stucco in bisque color, Hardie Board groove sidings in 
artic white, window casing and trim woodworks painted in white crest, the stacked stone 
in beige (Eldorado Stone Alderwood), garage door in white with dark hardware. Window 
frames are factory finish black, exterior lighting fixtures are in black oxide, and concrete 
roof tiles in charcoal slate color. 
 
A neighborhood analysis (Exhibit E) has been conducted on the 35 properties that were 
noticed within a 300-foot radius. The analysis indicates that the proposed 3,040-square-
foot residence is 137 square feet greater than the average top one-third of the neighboring 
homes. The site plan, building elevations and simulation renderings are attached herein 
as Exhibit B, and site photographs are also attached as Exhibit D. 
Arborist Report 
 



DRP 19-06 
February 20, 2020 
Page 4 

 

 

 
 

An arborist report has been prepared by Javier Cabral, a Certified Arborist to assess the 
viability of the new single-family residence in relation to an existing Coast Live Oak. The 
proposed structure is located approximately 22 feet from the margin of the oak’s trunk, 
and it is the opinion of the Arborist that all trees including the Coast Live Oaks can be 
protected in place in the context of the proposed design. The tree protection plan 
indicates, a Tree Protection Zone (TPZ).to avoid damaging the roots, stems, and 
branches with mechanical and manual equipment, to avoid soil compaction by prohibiting 
the use of heavy equipment, not to store or park construction equipment, washing 
equipment, prevent flooding and pooling and avoid cutting tree roots whenever possible, 
and do not raise or lower the grade as illustrated in the arborist report attached herein as 
Exhibit C. Conceptual Water Efficient Landscape plan is attached herein for reference as 
Exhibit B; Sheet L-1.  
 
PROJECT SUMMARY 

 
 

Category 
 

Existing 
 

 
Proposed  

Code 
Requirement /          

Allowed  

 
Meets 
Code 

 
Lot size 

 
10,855 sq. ft.  

 
No Change 

  
7,500 (minimum) 

 
Yes 

 
Lot Coverage 

 
19.1% 

 
24.2% 

 
Not to exceed 40% 

 
Yes 

 
Building Height 

 
18’-6”  

 
21’-10”  

 
25 feet  

 
Yes 

Gross Floor Area  2,076 sq. ft.  3,462 sq. ft.  3,463 sq. ft.  Yes 

Building 
Setbacks:  
 
Front 
 
Sides 
 
 
 
   North 
 
 
   South 
 
 
Rear 
 

 
 
 

50’-6” 
 
 

 
 
 

7’- 6” 
 
 

6’-0” 
 
 

30’- 1” 

 
 
 

35’-0” (first floor) 
42’-0” (second floor) 

 
Cumulative 

31’-6”  
 

11’-6” (first floor) 
14’-6” (second floor) 

 
20’ (first floor) 

44’-6” (second floor) 
 

15’-8” (first floor) 
42’-0” (second floor) 

 

 
 
 

35 feet 
 
 

Cumulative 
27 feet (30%) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 feet  

 
 
 

Yes 
 
 

Yes 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

Parking 2-car garage  2-car garage 

2 spaces per 
dwelling with 

maximum of four 
bedrooms 

Yes 



DRP 19-06 
February 20, 2020 
Page 5 

 

 

 
 

DESIGN REVIEW PERMIT FINDINGS: 
 

The granting of a Design Review Permit is subject to the following findings pursuant to 
Code Section17.60.041.D:  
 

1. The proposed project is consistent with the general plan, zoning code, and 

any applicable design standards; in that the project site has a General Plan 

Designation of RL (Residential Low Density) and the request for a single family residence 

is consistent with the City’s General Plan as implemented by the R-1 Zoning Ordinance.  

The project remains its current use and meets R-1 Zone standards including setbacks, 

allowable gross floor area, angle plane requirement, and maximum allowable height. In 

addition, the project complies with General Plan Objective L1 to continue the existing 

pattern of residential housing development; and Objective L6 that development is done 

in harmony with its neighborhood and preserves and protects the privacy and views of 

the neighboring properties.  Lastly, the overall massing is consistent and sensitive to the 

contours of the site, neighborhood, and complementary to the surrounding properties.  

 

2. The project will not unreasonably interfere with the use, possession, and 

enjoyment of surrounding adjacent properties; in that the proposed single family 

residence was specifically designed to work with the contours of the site, and will not 

unreasonably interfere with the use, possession, and enjoyment of surrounding and 

adjacent properties. The project complies with the development standards in the R-1 

Ordinance in regards to allowable floor area, lot coverage, setbacks, and angle plane etc. 

The house has a front setback of 35 feet and the rear yard setback is 15 feet. The side 

yard setbacks are 11’-6” and 20 feet on the first level, and setback 44 feet from the 

southerly property line on the second level. The proposed project intends to protect the 

mature oak trees that further promotes the enjoyment of the surrounding adjacent 

properties. 

 

3. That the height, bulk, scale, mass, and siting of the proposed project be 

compatible with the existing neighborhood, landforms, and surroundings; in that, 

in terms of height, bulk, scale, and mass, the proposed project occupies 24.2% of the lot, 

complies with gross floor area and height requirements allowed by the Municipal Code. 

The siting of the proposed project also protects all trees, including the existing Coast live 

oak tree and is compatible with the existing neighborhood and surroundings.  
 

4. That the proposed project reflects the scale of the neighborhood in which it 

is proposed and does not visually overpower or dominate the neighborhood and 

is not ill-proportioned so as to produce either architecture or design that detracts 

from foothill village setting; in that the proposed project remains as a single family 

residence that is consistent with the residential character of a mixture of one and two-



DRP 19-06 
February 20, 2020 
Page 6 

 

 

 
 

story homes. The proposed second story massing is positioned to the northern portion of 

the upward slopping lot, and 44 feet away from the property line to the south so it will not 

visually overpower or impact the privacy of the neighboring properties. The proposed 

project sensibly placed the single story element to the south to ensure that the project 

design is well-proportioned relative to the site as well as to the eclectic architectural style 

foothill village setting of Sierra Madre, and will not overpower or dominate the 

neighborhood. 

 

5. That the project neither unreasonably interferes with public views or the 

views and privacy of neighbors, produces unreasonable noise levels, nor causes 

material adverse impacts; in that the residence does not unreasonably interfere with 

public views or the views and privacy of neighbors as the 21’-10” height is typical for two-

story buildings and below the maximum height allowed by the Municipal Code. Existing 

trees and foliage in the surrounding neighboring yards will negate the obstruction or 

privacy issues from north, south and east.  

 

6. The proposed project exhibits a coherent project-wide design, and each 

structure or portion thereof (especially additions) on the site is compatible with 

other portions of the project, regardless of whether the same are publically visible; 

in that the proposed design is inspired by California ranch architectural style and elements 

are homogenous. The exterior is finished with stucco, horizontal wood siding, stacked 

stone, and hip roof depicting a structure that is horizontal and grounded. The project 

achieves an overall coherent design, and the design is consistent throughout the structure 

in use of design features, details, colors and material finishes. 

 

7. For proposed projects seeking relief from development standards, where 

allowed, to accommodate characteristics of an identifiable architectural style (such 

as additional height, pursuant to section 17.20.027(A)), that the proposed project 

adheres to the norms of such identifiable architectural style and that such style is 

consistently carried through on all elevations of the building, regardless of whether 

the same are publically visible; in that the project is not applicable to this finding as the 

applicant is not seeking relief from  development standards.     
 

8. For proposed projects that require discretionary review due to exceeding 

size thresholds (pursuant to Sections 17.20.025(C), 17.30.040(B) or similar), that the 

proposed is a superior project that would enhance its neighborhood and exhibit 

exceptional design through a combination of most, if not all, the following:  

 

a. Innovative, thoughtful and/or noteworthy architecture that is responsive to 

the specific site, rather than standard, or generic, or “cookie-cutter” plans; 



DRP 19-06 
February 20, 2020 
Page 7 

 

 

 
 

in that proposed project is a homogeneous design in ranch architecture style, and 

is responsive to the existing site by retaining all existing trees on site including one 

Coast Live Oak tree. The proposed design resembles a traditional ranch 

architectural style design aesthetic incorporating low pitched roof, deep eaves, 

multiple expanses of glass, and one room deep layout that surrounds the rear yard. 

The design thoughtfully placed the two-story element on the north side of lot and 

single-story element wrapped around the front façade and the south elevation. 

 

b. Where applicable, adaptive reuse or other preservation and restoration of 

historic structures; in that the finding is not applicable to the proposed project.  

 

c. Preservation of the natural landscape to the extent possible by such means 

as minimizing grade changes and retaining protected specimen trees; in that 

the proposed project preserves all trees on site including a Coast Live Oak. A 

landscape Plan exhibits a tree protection zone and utilizes a drought tolerant plant 

palette.  Furthermore, an arborist report has been prepared with suggested 

mitigation measures to protect the one Coast Live Oak tree during construction 

activities. 

 

d. Siting of structure in keeping with landforms and so as to maximize open 

space, public views, and neighbor views and privacy; in that the proposed 

structure works with the landform and contours of the site by preserving the front 

yard setback, incorporating a landscape design that wraps around the building 

from west, to the south, and east of the building to ensure the residence does not 

impede views and privacy of adjacent properties. 

 

e. High quality architectural details and building materials compatible with the 

overall project design; in that the project will be constructed with high quality 

materials for the ranch style architecture to create a compatible design. The 

exterior is finished in warm earth tone stucco, Hardi Board horizontal siding, stack 

stone, carriage garage door and slate colored concrete roof tiles. The design is 

further enhanced through the use of a covered front porch and open trellis to 

connect into nature. 

 

f. Sustainable building and landscaping practices, especially water-saving 

features; in that the proposed project will comply with all applicable building codes 

to satisfy sustainable building and landscaping practices including the Low Impact 

Development standards and Water Efficient Landscape Ordinances.  The property 

will be landscaped using drought tolerant and native plants, and storm water runoff 

will be captured utilizing the infiltration basin in the front yard.  



DRP 19-06 
February 20, 2020 
Page 8 

 

 

 
 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE PROCESS 
 
This item has been noticed through the regular agenda notification process. Copies of 
this report are available at the City Hall public counter, the Sierra Madre Public Library, 
and on the City’s website. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
 

The proposed project qualifies for a Class 1 Categorical Exemption, pursuant to Section 
15301 Existing Facilities (l)(1) of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as it 
involves the removal of a single-family residence.  The project also qualifies a Categorical 
Exemption pursuant to Section 15303(a) (Class 3, New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures) of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), in that it involves a 
new construction of one single family residence. 
 
Attachments: 

 

1. Exhibit A:   Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
2. Exhibit B:   Narrative, Plans, Elevations, Renderings 
3. Exhibit C:   Arborist report 
4. Exhibit D:   Site Photos  
5. Exhibit E:   Neighborhood Analysis 
6. Exhibit E:   Material Board 
 



PLANNING CCOMMISSION 
 RESOLUTION 20-01 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SIERRA  

MADRE APPROVING DESIGN REVIEW PERMIT 20-01 TO ALLOW THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW 3,426-SQUARE-FOOT TWO-STORY SINGLE FAMILY 

RESIDENCE WITH AN ATTACHED TWO-CAR GARAGE ON THE PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 1910 SANTA ANITA AVENUE 

  
 

THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SIERRA MADRE DOES 
HEREBY RESOLVE: 
 

WHEREAS, an application for a Design Review was filed by: 
 

PDS Studio, Inc. 
711 South First Avenue 

Arcadia, CA 91006 
 

WHEREAS, the request for a DESIGN REVIEW PERMIT can be described 
as: 
 
A request for a design review permit to allow a new construction of a 3,462-square-foot 
two-story, single family residence with an attached two-car garage the property located 
at 1910 Santa Anita Avenue. Pursuant to SMMC Section 17.20.027.B and C.2, a Design 
Review Permit is required: 1) for any new construction proposed to include a second 
story; 2) to allow any new construction with allowable gross floor area for all structures on 
lot areas from seven thousand five hundred to eleven thousand square feet that exceeds 
3,000 square feet of floor area. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has received the report and 
recommendations of staff; 
 

WHEREAS, notice was duly given of the public hearing on the matter, which 
public hearing was held before the Planning Commission on February 20, 2020, with all 
testimony received being made part of the public record;  

 
WHEREAS, the proposed project qualifies for a Class 1 Categorical 

Exemption, pursuant to Section 15301 Existing Facilities (l)(1) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as it involves the removal of a single-family residence.  
The project also qualifies a Categorical Exemption pursuant to Section 15303(a) Class 3, 
New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures) of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA), in that it involves a new construction of one single family residence. 
  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the evidence received at the 
hearing, and for the reasons discussed by the Commissioners at said hearing, the 
Planning Commission now finds as follows: 
 



Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
February 20, 2020 
 
  
Burden of proof for permits for certain noted projects pursuant to Code Section 

17.20.041.D 

 

Before a Design Review Permit is granted, the application shall show, to the reasonable 

satisfaction of the reviewing authority, the existence of the following facts: 
 

1. The proposed project is consistent with the general plan, zoning code, and any 

applicable design standards; in that the project site has a General Plan Designation 

of RL (Residential Low Density) and the request for a single family residence is 

consistent with the City’s General Plan as implemented by the R-1 Zoning Ordinance.  

The project remains its current use and meets R-1 Zone standards including setbacks, 

allowable gross floor area, angle plane requirement, and maximum allowable height. 

In addition, the project complies with General Plan Objective L1 to continue the 

existing pattern of residential housing development; and Objective L6 that 

development is done in harmony with its neighborhood and preserves and protects 

the privacy and views of the neighboring properties.  Lastly, the overall massing is 

consistent and sensitive to the contours of the site, neighborhood, and complementary 

to the surrounding properties.  

 

2. The project will not unreasonably interfere with the use, possession, and 

enjoyment of surrounding adjacent properties; in that the proposed single family 

residence was specifically designed to work with the contours of the site, and will not 

unreasonably interfere with the use, possession, and enjoyment of surrounding and 

adjacent properties. The project complies with the development standards in the R-1 

Ordinance in regards to allowable floor area, lot coverage, setbacks, and angle plane 

etc. The house has a front setback of 35 feet and the rear yard setback is 15 feet. The 

side yard setbacks are 11’-6” and 20 feet on the first level, and setback 44 feet from 

the southerly property line on the second level. The proposed project intends to protect 

the mature oak trees that further promotes the enjoyment of the surrounding adjacent 

properties. 

 

3. That the height, bulk, scale, mass, and siting of the proposed project be 

compatible with the existing neighborhood, landforms, and surroundings; in 

that, in terms of height, bulk, scale, and mass, the proposed project occupies 24.2% 

of the lot, complies with gross floor area and height requirements allowed by the 

Municipal Code. The siting of the proposed project also protects all trees, including 

the existing Coast live oak tree and is compatible with the existing neighborhood and 

surroundings.  
 

4. That the proposed project reflects the scale of the neighborhood in which it is 

proposed and does not visually overpower or dominate the neighborhood and 



Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
February 20, 2020 
 
  

is not ill-proportioned so as to produce either architecture or design that 

detracts from foothill village setting; in that the proposed project remains as a 

single family residence that is consistent with the residential character of a mixture of 

one and two-story homes. The proposed second story massing is positioned to the 

northern portion of the upward slopping lot, and 44 feet away from the property line to 

the south so it will not visually overpower or impact the privacy of the neighboring 

properties. The proposed project sensibly placed the single story element to the south 

to ensure that the project design is well-proportioned relative to the site as well as to 

the eclectic architectural style foothill village setting of Sierra Madre, and will not 

overpower or dominate the neighborhood. 

 

5. That the project neither unreasonably interferes with public views or the views 

and privacy of neighbors, produces unreasonable noise levels, nor causes 

material adverse impacts; in that the residence does not unreasonably interfere with 

public views or the views and privacy of neighbors as the 21’-10” height is typical for 

two-story buildings and below the maximum height allowed by the Municipal Code. 

Existing trees and foliage in the surrounding neighboring yards will negate the 

obstruction or privacy issues from north, south and east.  

 

6. The proposed project exhibits a coherent project-wide design, and each 

structure or portion thereof (especially additions) on the site is compatible with 

other portions of the project, regardless of whether the same are publically 

visible; in that the proposed design is inspired by California ranch architectural style 

and elements are homogenous. The exterior is finished with stucco, horizontal wood 

siding, stacked stone, and hip roof depicting a structure that is horizontal and 

grounded. The project achieves an overall coherent design, and the design is 

consistent throughout the structure in use of design features, details, colors and 

material finishes. 

 

7. For proposed projects seeking relief from development standards, where 

allowed, to accommodate characteristics of an identifiable architectural style 

(such as additional height, pursuant to section 17.20.027(A)), that the proposed 

project adheres to the norms of such identifiable architectural style and that 

such style is consistently carried through on all elevations of the building, 

regardless of whether the same are publically visible; in that the project is not 

applicable to this finding as the applicant is not seeking relief from  development 

standards.     
 

8. For proposed projects that require discretionary review due to exceeding size 

thresholds (pursuant to Sections 17.20.025(C), 17.30.040(B) or similar), that the 



Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
February 20, 2020 
 
  

proposed is a superior project that would enhance its neighborhood and exhibit 

exceptional design through a combination of most, if not all, the following:  

 

a. Innovative, thoughtful and/or noteworthy architecture that is responsive to 

the specific site, rather than standard, or generic, or “cookie-cutter” plans; 

in that proposed project is a homogeneous design in ranch architecture style, and 

is responsive to the existing site by retaining all existing trees on site including one 

Coast Live Oak tree. The proposed design resembles a traditional ranch 

architectural style design aesthetic incorporating low pitched roof, deep eaves, 

multiple expanses of glass, and one room deep layout that surrounds the rear yard. 

The design thoughtfully placed the two-story element on the north side of lot and 

single-story element wrapped around the front façade and the south elevation. 

 

b. Where applicable, adaptive reuse or other preservation and restoration of 

historic structures; in that the finding is not applicable to the proposed project.  

 

c. Preservation of the natural landscape to the extent possible by such means 

as minimizing grade changes and retaining protected specimen trees; in that 

the proposed project preserves all trees on site including a Coast Live Oak. A 

landscape Plan exhibits a tree protection zone and utilizes a drought tolerant plant 

palette.  Furthermore, an arborist report has been prepared with suggested 

mitigation measures to protect the one Coast Live Oak tree during construction 

activities. 

 

d. Siting of structure in keeping with landforms and so as to maximize open 

space, public views, and neighbor views and privacy; in that the proposed 

structure works with the landform and contours of the site by preserving the front 

yard setback, incorporating a landscape design that wraps around the building 

from west, to the south, and east of the building to ensure the residence does not 

impede views and privacy of adjacent properties. 

 

e. High quality architectural details and building materials compatible with the 

overall project design; in that the project will be constructed with high quality 

materials for the ranch style architecture to create a compatible design. The 

exterior is finished in warm earth tone stucco, Hardi Board horizontal siding, stack 

stone, carriage garage door and slate colored concrete roof tiles. The design is 

further enhanced through the use of a covered front porch and open trellis to 

connect into nature. 

 



Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
February 20, 2020 
 
  

f. Sustainable building and landscaping practices, especially water-saving 

features; in that the proposed project will comply with all applicable building codes 

to satisfy sustainable building and landscaping practices including the Low Impact 

Development standards and Water Efficient Landscape Ordinances.  The property 

will be landscaped using drought tolerant and native plants, and storm water runoff 

will be captured utilizing the infiltration basin in the front yard.  
   
  PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS, IT IS RESOLVED that the 
Planning Commission APPROVES Design Review Permit 18-03, subject to the conditions 
of approval in Exhibit A, attached herein. 
 
The approval is final, unless appealed to the City Council in writing within ten (10) days 
following the adoption of this Resolution, pursuant to the provisions of Section 17.60.120 
of the Sierra Madre Municipal Code. 
 
The time in which to seek judicial review of this decision shall be governed by Code of 
Civil Procedure Section 1094.6.  The Planning Commission Secretary shall certify to the 
adoption of this resolution, transmit copies of the same to the applicant and his counsel, 
if any, together with a proof of mailing in the form required by law and shall enter a certified 
copy of this resolution in the book of resolution of the City. 
 
 
APPROVED, the 20th day of February, 2020, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:   
 
          
   John Hutt, Chairperson   
   Sierra Madre Planning Commission  
ATTEST: 
 
 
   
Vincent Gonzalez, Director 
Planning & Community Preservation Department  

  



Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
February 20, 2020 
 
  

EXHIBIT A 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
DRP 20-01 

General Conditions: 
 
The applicant and property owner shall:  
 
1. Comply with all applicable provisions of the Sierra Madre Municipal Code, including 

but not limited to those Chapters pertaining to Zoning, Building and Construction, 
Vehicles and Traffic, and Health and Safety, and including all such provisions which 
may be contained in Uniform Codes which have been incorporated by reference within 
the Sierra Madre Municipal Code. 

 
2.  Comply with all applicable provisions of Federal, State and Los Angeles County law 

and regulations, including but not limited to the California Environmental Quality Act. 
 
3. Execute and deliver to the City’s Department of Planning & Community Preservation 

an Affidavit of Acceptance of Conditions on a form to be provided by such Department 
prior to submitting construction plans for 1st Plan Check to the City. This approval shall 
not be effective for any purpose until the Applicant complies with this condition.    

 
4.   To the fullest extent permitted by law, fully protect the City, its employees, agents and 

officials from any loss, injury, damage, claim, lawsuit, expense, attorneys’ fees, 
litigation expenses, court costs or any other costs arising out of or in any way related 
to the issuance of this approval, or the activities conducted pursuant to this approval. 
Accordingly, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the applicant and property owner 
shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless City, its employees, agents and officials, 
from and against any liability, claims, suits, actions, arbitration proceedings, regulatory 
proceedings, losses, expenses or costs of any kind, whether actual, alleged or 
threatened, including, but not limited to, actual attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and 
court costs of any kind without restriction or limitation, incurred in relation to, as a 
consequence of, arising out of or in any way attributable to, actually, allegedly or 
impliedly, in whole or in part, the issuance of this approval, or the activities conducted 
pursuant to this approval. Applicant and property owner shall pay such obligations as 
they are incurred by City, its employees, agents and officials, and in the event of any 
claim or lawsuit, shall submit a deposit in such amount as the City reasonably 
determines necessary to protect the City from exposure to fees, costs or liability with 
respect to such claim or lawsuit. 

 
Planning Conditions: 
 
The applicant and property owner shall: 
 

1. Construct the project in substantial conformance with all applications and 
supporting materials presented to the Planning Commission on February 20, 
2020.  Inaccuracies and misrepresentations will be grounds for immediate 
revocation of the Design Review permit. 



Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
February 20, 2020 
 
  
 

2. Submit construction plans, for 1st Plan Check within one (1) year of the date of 
this approval; failure to do so will constitute an abandonment of the entitlement, 
and shall render this approval null and void. 

 
3. Applicant shall comply with the requirements of the Water Efficient Landscape 

Ordinance. 
 

Public Works Conditions: 
 
The applicant and property owner shall: 
Plan Submittal Completion: 

1.) The applicant shall describe any proposed removal or pruning impacts (root zone or 
canopy) that will be required for the construction of the new structure of the existing Oak 
tree. 

2.) Plan shall, at a minimum, indicate how the Oak tree will be fenced to protect low branches 
and root zones, and prevent storage of construction materials under the tree.  

3.) Review the Procedures for Demolition of a building. 

4.) Review the requirements for construction plans, grading and drainage plans and LID 
requirements. 

5.) List of forms to be filled out and submitted for approval: 

 
1. Complete the application for review of construction activities in proximity to 

protected trees; 

2. Review the mitigation guide for protected trees; 

3. All tree protective recommendations included in the arborist’s report shall be 
followed throughout the construction process; 

4. Prior to issuance of a building permit, applicant shall submit to Public Works a 
fully executed agreement with the arborist fully describing the arborist’s 
construction monitoring services and preparation of the arborist’s final report as 
to the impacts on the protected trees; 

5. Review the procedures for demolition of a building; 

6. Review the minimum requirements for construction plans, grading and drainage 
plans and LID requirements; 

7. List of forms to be filled out and submitted for approval; 



Planning Commission Resolution 20-01 
February 20, 2020 
 
  

8. Construction fence shall be off set from the property line not to interfere with 
sidewalk pedestrian traffic during construction. 

9. The addition floor space exceeds 500 square feet, therefore Low Impact 
Development (LID) standards apply to the entire project. A grading and drainage 
plan will therefore be required. 

10. As of today’s date, much of the front and rear yard area is loose, disturbed soil 
which is subject to wind and storm water erosion. An erosion control plan must 
be prepared by a licensed civil engineer and submitted to the public works 
department for approval prior to issuance of any permits. 

11. The revised site shall not redirect, concentrate or increase drainage across 
adjoining private properties. 

12. Property shall be connected to the public sewer. 

13. Additional conditions may be determined following a complete submittal. 

14. All tree protective recommendations shall be followed throughout the construction 
process.  

15. All buildings shall be connected to the public sewer. 

16. Driveway approach to be added and abandoned drive approaches to be replaced 
with curb and gutter, separate PW permit required. 

Fire Department Conditions: 
 
The applicant and property owner shall: 
 

1. Install fire sprinklers in the proposed structures. 
 

 (end of conditions) 



EXHIBIT B 
 

 

 

NARRATIVE, PLANS, ELEVATIONS, RENDERINGS 
 

 

Project Address: 1910 N. Santa Anita 
Project Description: New 2-Story Single Family Home 
 
Project Narrative: 
 
The owner of the property at 1910 N. Santa Anita Ave would like to construct a new 2-
story ranch style single family home of 3,040 sf living area and an attached 2-car 
garage of 422 sf. Existing structures on site, including a 1-story single family home and 
an attached 2-car garage, will be demolished. The new house will be built with 4 
bedrooms and 3.5 bathrooms, attached 2-car garage, great room, recreation room, 
dining room, kitchen, wok room, laundry, cover porch, and elevator (for wheelchair 
access to 2nd floor). The new home ranch style home include design features like a 
shallow pitch roof (3.5:12) with concrete roof tiles, wood siding (James Hardie lap 
siding), windows (fiberglass with prairie SDL grids),  wood window exterior casing, stone 
veneer (stacked stones from El Dorado Stone), wood railing, decorative gable vents, 
ranch style garage doors and other woodwork elements. 
The owners have worked with the designer to ensure the new home design not only to 
fit both their design desires, but also fit into the hillside neighborhood. Because the lot 
slopes from north to south, the new home design places the 2nd floor footprint toward 
the north side, to provide ample distance (44’-0” to the side property line) to reduce the 
physical mass on the façade. The use of horizontal designs (siding, roof ridge, eave, 
stacked stone veneer) helps the new 2-story home blend into the existing topography.  
The low-pitched roofs and deep overhanging eaves, with the side gable roofs, help 
reinforce the ranch architectural style horizontal appearance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



�

�����
����	��
�����
�����
������

��������������� 
!�"���#�$��
���%���%

&''��(�)�����	*��
	��	
�	+��	�,'--.

///(�
�0���
��(��$�
$	�!1�
�0���
��(��$

2.3.4�3,50,5-3

','-��	��	�	���	�	*�
�����	�$	
��+��	�,'-35

���6�7�8�9��:�;�97

�/
)�����*��/�)��$��/

�/
)�����*��/�)��$��/

��*��/�	����	��	�
������������*��/�	����	��	�
����������

�;77�����7<

	-
	-('
	'
	3
	=
�%'
!'

��*����#����>����������*�
���*�
������!	��>����)��!	�
)!�����!	��
�!�*	�����
��������	!�%�	
��%
!	�
��	����!	��2/�!�4

�?��7��8�@�AB

����������	���/�30�����=+5.3�)�
���%!��)	$�!�#�$���)��	��#���!��
/��#�	��	��	�#�
��/�0�	��%	�	%���)�
533(�	!!��"�����%�����������������������
���
�$�!��#�
(��"�����%��	C���������
�����������������*�
�	�
���������


�A����7���A�D7?��@����?�9��:�@��;�?E?�F�

��E��?�@�AB��?�997���

G� ��$�*	!����������%��$�	����2�����H��������	����
�#	��/�!!������I����
�)����#����/�����������	���#��
�"�����%��	C������/�!!���������)��
�����	��������
������

G� �	C������/�!!����)����
������������!�/���	��#���
	�
������H���������	��������������(�����	%���)�
�������������$����	!����
��������/�!!�������*����


G� ��*��/��#�������
������)�
�$�!������������*�!��!	�
G� ��*��/���I����$������)���������������!	��+�
%�	
��%+�	�
�
�	��	%���!	��	�
�!�
���I����$���������
��*�!��!	�

G� �������������*������$$��
	�������#	!!����)�!!�/�
�
�#���%#������������������������

G� 	!!����!
��%���#	!!������������
�������!�����/��
G� 
��*�/	�	����	�#�������	

�
�	�
�	�	�
���
�

��*�/	�	����	�#������������!	��
�/��#������	�
�
%�����+����	�	����/����$�����I����




���

���

� ���	
����


���

�
�
�
	


��
�
��

�
�
��
�

���	
����

�
���

�
�

	�
�
��
�
��

�
�
��
�

������

����

�� !����

�" !���� �" !����
#� !����

$% !����

&
'
(
)
'
*
'
(
+
)
'
*
'
,
-

.�
/
!�
��
0%
12

.�
/!
��
�0
$�
2

.�
/
!�
�3
0#
42

.�
/!
�$
"0
$#
2

.5
�!
��
�0
�#
2

.5
�!
��
�0
6#
2

.5
�!
��
$0
""
2

.5
�!
��
$0
33
2

.5
�!
��
#0
%#
2

.5
�!
��
#0
41
2

.5
�!
��
%0
3"
2

.5
�!
��
10
$4
2

.5
�!
��
10
63
2

.5
�!
�$
�0
"�
2.5

�!
�$
�0
3"
2

.5
�!
�$
�0
3�
2

.5
�!
�$
$0
��
2

.5
�!
�$
$0
1%
2

.5
�!
�$
#0
$%
2

.5
�!
�$
#0
%�
2

.�
�%
0"
62

.�
�%
0"
"2

.�
�%
06
12

.�
�%
0#
12

.�
$$
0"
%2

.�
$#
01
#2

.�
�6
01
"2

.�
�6
04
%2

.�
$�
03
62

.�
�"
0"
�2

.�
�"
0"
32

.�
�"
0#
12

.�
�$
03
�2

.�
�#
0#
42

.�
$�
0$
�2

.�
�1
06
�2

.�
�
!�
��
0�
�2

.�
�!
��
�0
�$
2

.�
�!
��
"0
�4
2

.�
�!
��
"0
�6
2

.�
�!
��
$0
#"
2

.�
�
!�
��
04
�2

.�
�
!�
�%
0�
�2

.�
�
!�
�1
0#
�2

.�
�!
�$
�0
�#
2

.�
�!
�$
�0
""
2

.�
�!
�$
�0
1"
2

.�
�!
�$
�0
61
2

.�
�!
�$
#0
$1
2

.�
�!
�$
$0
�$
2 .�

�!
�$
#0
66
2

.�
�!
��
10
"3
2

.�
/
!�
�#
0�
#2

.�
/
!�
�"
06
#2

.�
/
!�
�1
01
�2

.�
/
!�
$�
0#
%2

.�
/!
�$
$0
##
2

.�
/!
�$
#0
1$
2

.�
�#
0%
�2

.�
�%
0"
62

.�
�6
01
42

.�
�"
0��
2 .�

�"
0"
12

.�
�"
0#
$2

.�
�"
03
32

.�
�6
0$
42

.�
�6
06
$2

.�
�6
0#
62

.�
�6
0%
32

.�
�%
0"
12

.�
�6
03
"2

.�
�6
04
62

.�
�%
06
$2

.�
�%
0"
$2.�

�%
01
42 .�

�%
0#
�2

.�
�%
0$
42

.�
�%
0"
�2.�

�1
0"
12

.�
�%
0#
32

.�
�%
0"
#2

.�
$"
0�
"2

.�
$"
0$
42

.�
��
01
"2

.�
�3
03
12

.�
�4
0#
62

.�
�$
06
#2

.�
�1
01
12

.�
��
0�
$2

.�
�"
0"
#2

.�
�"
06
62

.�
�#
01
$2

.�
�#
0#
"2

.�
�#
0�3
2

.�
�6
0#
#2

.�
�%
0�3
2

.�
�6
03
62

.�
�"
0#
"2

.�
�%
04
#2

.�
�6
04
%2 .�

�"
0�6
2

.�
�6
0�
"2

.�
�1
0�
"2

.�
�1
01
"2

.�
$�
0�
%2

.�
$�
0$
#2

.�
�1
06
12

.�
$�
0%
42

.�
�%
04
�2

.�
$�
04
�2

.�
$$
03
12 .�

$#
0"
�2

.�
$$
0$
$2

.�
�%
06
�2

.�
�%
0$
%2

.�
�%
04
12

.�
�#
0�
42

.�
�"
0$
#2

.�
�%
0#
42

.�
�3
0�
32

.�
�"
0#
12

.�
�6
06
62

.�
�%
06
12

.�
$#
03
"2

.�
�3
0"
"2

.�
�6
0%
42

.�
�6
06
�2

.�
�%
06
12

.�
�%
0"
%2

.�
$�
03
12

.�
�$
0"
42

.�
$$
0�
42

.�
$�
01
12

.�
�3
0�#
2

.�
�3
0$
�2

.�
��
01
�2

.�
�#
01
�2

.�
$$
0$
"2

.�
�6
01
32

.�
�3
06
62

.�
$�
01
$2

.�
�3
06
$2 .�

��
0�
62

.�
�4
0%
"2

.�
�%
01
"2

.�
�"
0"
"2

.�
�"
0#
#2

.�
�4
0$
12

.�
$�
01
62

.�
�%
03
$2

.�
$�
0�
32

.�
�3
0$
#2

.�
�4
0%
�2

.�
�$
0$
$2

.�
$�
01
$2

.�
$�
04
42

.�
$$
0%
$2

.�
�%
0�
62

.�
�%
0"
�2

.�
�3
0#
"2

%7!�889

%7!�889

%7!�889

%7!�889

���!����

"7!:;�

<=>?>@ABCDEFG?H@AIJKL>F<?H@A>?EGF?@CB>@<=>@
MBIM>B<N@CFA@JIMNBEG=<?@IO@MA?@?<KAEIP@CQQ@
A>?EGF?@CB>@OIB@K?>@IF@<=>@?M>JEOE>A@MBIR>J<H@CFA@
FI@MCB<@<=>B>IO@?=CQQ@S>@JIME>A@IB@AE?JQI?>A@<I@
I<=>B?@DE<=IK<@DBE<<>F@M>BLE??EIF@OBIL@MA?@
?<KAEIP

?=>><@FIP

MQCFF>BT

MQI<@AC<>T

UVWXYXZ[

\
]̂
_̂
à
]
bc

de
fe
gh
ij
kl
mi
nm
op
qr
pr
q

�
i
o�
is
tu
�
vi
w
x
�
yiw
u
z
w
{
tw
iz
w
i�
�
��

v�
|}
i�
��
~�
��
~�
��
�i
iis
w
�
}�
��
~

��
~�
��
�

pr
��

���������@�T��T��@CL

C�P�

?
EF
G
Q>
@O
C
L
EQ
N@
=
I
L
>

�
�
�
�
@?
C
F
<
C
@C
F
E<
C
@C
�
>

?
E>
B
B
C
@L
C
A
B
>
H@
@J
C
@@
�
�
�
�
�

?KB�>N

�

[�� ����������� ����

�zw|�} ���i�i�~��
â����



���

���

�

��	
�	����

������

�
�
�


�
��
�
��

�
�
	
��
�

�
�
�

�
�
��
�
��

�
�
�
	
��
� ��	
�������

�����

�������
�������

���
������

��
��
���

���
���

��
���

��
����

��	
�������

����

�
���
��
�
��
�����

��
�

������

�
�
�


�
��
�
��

�

�
�
�

��
��
��


�
�
�
��
�

��
��
�


�	
�
�
�

��	
�	����

������

�
�
�
	
���
��
����

�
�
�	

�
�����

�
�
�

�
�
��
�
��

�
	
�
��
�

�
�
�


�
��
�
��

	
�
�
�

�
�
�
	�����
�
��
�

���
������

�����

���
������

�����

�
�
�


�
��
�
��

	
�
��
�

���
������

���	�

�
�
�

�
�
��
�
��

	
�
��
�

������

� �!

�"�

�"�

�"�

�"�

�"�

����#$����

%�&#'!#()(

(*+#����

(,+#����
(,+#����

-*+#����

./+#����

0
1
2
3
0
0
4
5
1
6
7

891:456;735167

<
1
:
=
1
5
1
:
;
=
1
5
1
6
7

/>#�??'

/>#�??'

/>#�??'

/>#�??'

���#����

,>#$@�

ABCBDEF
��GHI��H�JKJ�LHM��M

NCCDEF
LM�ML�

AB
OD
E
F

I
�
P
�
G
HQ
P
�
R
S

AATDUDOV

AW
TDU
DO
V

XTDUDOVAO
TDU
DO
V

AXTDUDOV

AW
TDU
DY
V

BTDUDYV

AO
TDU
DO
V

ABTDUDCV

CZ
TDU
DO
V

CBTDUDOV

ZTDUDYV

ZT
DUD
YV

CA
TDU
DY
V

AYTDUDYV

BTDUDAOV

YT
DUD
OV XT
DUD
OV

ZTDUDYV

COTDUDOV

CO
TDU
DO
V

AWDEF
[��LHQ�P\�RGJP�

AAAADEF
���HI��H�JKJ�LHM��M

AWTDUDCV

AA
TDU
DO
V

ZTDUDYV

AA
TDU
DC
VZT
DUD
CV

NTDUDOV

ZTDUDCV

AZTDUDOV

AB
TDU
DO
V

]TDUDAOV

AC
TDU
DO
V

BTDUDYV

NTDUDOV

CTDUDOV

ZT
DUD
AO
V

WA
TDU
DY
V

AW
TDU
DY
V

AO
TDU
DO
V

CTDUDOV

NT
DUD
CV

CT
DUD
CV

A
TDU
DY
V

AWTDUDYV

_̂̀
aba
cd

efghijkhihkl mc̀
aba
cd

mc̀abacd

niopqj
gorlils
toigu

��GHI��H��G[MRvH�J��wH���x��

epsjnyijyzpl

pl{jef|qoi}
|zpkyljnh~zy}juo~l

�m
�
�
a�
��
a�
��
�a
��
a�
��
�a
�
��
��

��̀
aba
cd

�̂̀abacd

�̂̀aba�d

�̂ àba�d

epsjnyijyzpl

ĉ̀
aba
cd

�m̀abacd

m̀aba�d

l�to|lsjihnqlij�lh~

E
�
�
�
�
D�
�
��
�
D�
�
�

�
��
������

	����

���
�������e����

���
����������ee

�
��
�������

�����

|qillq
|zkp

�
�

L
M
�

l��jilq�j{hyyjqojil~hzp

l��j ¡j{oosjqojil~hzp

l��j ¡uj{oosjnlpgljqojil~hzp

l�¢j£¡ujg�{jqojil~hzp

l
�
¢j£
¡u
jg
�
{
jq
o
ji
l
~
h
zp

l
�
�j 
¡u
j{
o
o
s
jn
l
p
g
l
jq
o
ji
l
~
h
zp

�¤H���HP�M�L�
G���HGPH���MJ�

l
�
�j�
 ¥
jo
h
¦
jq
i
l
l
jq
o

i
l
~
h
zp
jh
p
s
j�
l
jt
i
l
|
l
i
r
l
s

l
�
�j�
£¥
jk
zh
p
q
j�
zi
s
|

o
nj
t
h
i
h
s
z|
l
jq
o
ji
l
~
h
zp

l��j�j|qoi}juo~l

l��j�j|qoi}juo~l
WOTDUDBV

WATDUDBV

l��je�¥jjyz§̈ zsh~�li
qilljqojil~hzp

^̂
àba
_d

�̂̀
aba
_d

�̂̀
aba
cd ^̂
àba
_d

g̈ ~ ÿhqzrlj|lq�hg¦jil§̈ zil~lpq©j
M��P�M[��wH��ªHPIH�PGH�J�GSwH��H«H	�H�H���x��
Q�PKJ���wH���x��H¬H���x	�H�H���x	�

�̂̀abacd

niopqj|lq�hg¦©
|lljrzgzpzq}j~ht

j®j¢hf�̄jnoij
ghyg̈ yhqzop

ilhij|lq�hg¦©
��¡f�¥jnio~jilhijt�y�

��̀abamd

epsjnyijyzpl

N
TDU
DO
V

CZTDUDOV

��̀abacd

]TDUDAOV

ATDUDYV

CC
TDU
DO
V

CT
DUD
OV

�GP��HK�����
P�HRSJ���°HQ�P\�RGJP�

NTDUDOV

�̂̀aba±d

�eē

�e�̄

�e�̄

�e�̄

���̄

��²̄

���̄

�� ̄

���̄

���̄

�
�£̄

�
�³̄

�
�³̄

�
�ē

��
£̄

���̄

�e�̄l
�
�j�
£¥
jk
zh
p
q
j�
zi
s
|

o
nj
t
h
i
h
s
z|
l
jq
o
ji
l
~
h
zp

l
�
�je
 ¥
jjk
zh
p
q
j�
zi
s
|

o
nj
t
h
i
h
s
z|
l
jq
o
ji
l
~
h
zp

�¤J�GJ�LHQJGGP�QP�́ �HS��L�HGPH���MJ� �¤J�GJ�LHQJGGP�QP�́ �HS��L�HGPH���MJ�

t
i
o
r
zs
l
jn
l
p
g
zp
k
jn
o
i
jl
�
z|
q
zp
k
jo
h
¦
j

q
i
l
l
js̈
i
zp
k
jg
o
p
|
q
ï
g
q
zo
p

t
l
i
jh
i
�
o
i
z|
q
¡|
ji
l
g
o
~
~
l
p
s
h
q
zo
p

�

m̀aba_d

^̀abamd

�w�� �w��

�
w�
�

�
w�
�

�
�
w�
�

��w��

��w��

m̀
aba
_d m̀
aba
_d

�w�� �w��

�
w�
�

�
w�
�

�w��

�
�
w�
� ��w��

�w��

�
�
w�
�

��w��

�
�
w�
�

�̀
aba
_d

�
�
w�
�

m̀aba_d

��w��

�PRMGJP�HPIH�P�M�HQM����
P�H�Ṕ GSxIMRJ�LH���HI�PP�H�PPI

�µ¶··̧H�̧ ¹·¶HµºHµ»H¼½¶H¾·¿À¶ººH¿ÁḨ¹¿¾¼µ»ÂH���	H
[ÃµÄ¹µ»ÂHR¿¹¶HÅ½µÀ½H·¶ÆÃµ·¶ºH»¶ÅH·¶ºµ¹¶»¼µ̧ÄH
ÇÃµÄ¹µ»ÂHºÃÇÈµ¼ºH¾Ä̧»HÀ½¶ÀÉH¿»H\̧»H�ÊH����Ḩ»¹H
Á̧¼¶·H¼¿Hµ»ÀÄÃ¹¶H¾½¿¼¿Ë¿Ä¼̧µÀHºÌº¼¶È

m̀
aba
_d

^̀abamd
m̀aba_d

m̀
aba
_d

m̀abacd

�̀
aba
cd

l��j�f|qoi}juo~l

�¤�H�x�GP�°HSP��

|
h
p
qh
jh
p
zq
h
jh
r
l

|
h
p
qh
jh
p
zq
h
jh
r
l

�¤�HLM�ML�
GPH[�H���P�J�S��

�¤�HSṔ ��
GPH[�H���P�J�S��

oh¦{oosjhrl

kihpsjrzl{jhrl

�¤�H�x�GP�°HSP��

I�P�GH°M��

I
�
P
�
G
H°
M
�
�

I
�
P
�
G
H°
M
�
�

I
�
P
�
G
H°
M
�
�

�±̀aba�d

�m̀aba±d

��̀abacd

�
Í

�
Í

�
Í

�
Í

ÎÏÐÑÐÒÓÔÕÖ×ØÙÑÚÒÓÛÜÝÞÐØÎÑÚÒÓÐÑ×ÙØÑÒÕÔÐÒÎÏÐÒ
ßÔÛßÐÔÎàÒÕØÓÒÜÛßàÔ×ÙÏÎÑÒÛáÒßÓÑÒÑÎÝÓ×ÛâÒÕããÒ
ÓÐÑ×ÙØÑÒÕÔÐÒáÛÔÒÝÑÐÒÛØÒÎÏÐÒÑßÐÜ×á×ÐÓÒßÔÛäÐÜÎÚÒÕØÓÒ
ØÛÒßÕÔÎÒÎÏÐÔÐÛáÒÑÏÕããÒåÐÒÜÛß×ÐÓÒÛÔÒÓ×ÑÜãÛÑÐÓÒÎÛÒ
ÛÎÏÐÔÑÒÖ×ÎÏÛÝÎÒÖÔ×ÎÎÐØÒßÐÔÞ×ÑÑ×ÛØÒáÔÛÞÒßÓÑÒ
ÑÎÝÓ×Ûâ

ÑÏÐÐÎÒØÛâ

ßãÕØØÐÔæ

ßãÛÎÒÓÕÎÐæ

çèéêëêìí

t
s
|
j|
q̈
s
zo

ÄÃ
«Ã
·Ì
H½
¿È
¶H
¹¶
ºµ
Â»
µ»
Â

��
�H
º�
HI
J�
�
GH
M
K
�
ÊHM
�
R
M
�
JM
HR
M
H	
��
��

G�
�w
H�
��
x�
	�
x	
��
�H
HHI
M
¤
w�
��
x
��
x�
�	
�

µ»
À�

îîïðïñòîóÒóæñðæðôÒÕÞ

Õõî

Ñ
×Ø
Ù
ãÐ
Òá
Õ
Þ
×ã
àÒ
Ï
Û
Þ
Ð

î
ó
î
ò
ÒÑ
Õ
Ø
Î
Õ
ÒÕ
Ø
×Î
Õ
ÒÕ
ö
Ð

Ñ
×Ð
Ô
Ô
Õ
ÒÞ
Õ
Ó
Ô
Ð
ÚÒ
ÒÜ
Õ
ÒÒ
ó
î
ò
ñ
ð

Ñ×ÎÐÒßãÕØÒïÒÔÛÛá
ßãÕØ

õ

hsszqzophyjpoql|©
��H L�M�J��GHPIHIJ��H��QM�G���GHK�SJR��HMRR���H�PM��H�SM��H�PGH�¤R���H�H

Q��R��GH́�����HMQQ�PK��H[°HGS�HIJ��HRP��HPIIJRJM��
��H MQQ�PK��H[́ J��J�LHM������H�́ �[���ÊH[́ J��J�LH�́ �[���ÊHP�HMQQ�PK��H

[́ J��J�LHJ���GJIJRMGJP�H�SM��H[�HQ�PKJ���HM��H�MJ�GMJ���H�PHM�HGPH[�H
Q�MJ��°HKJ�J[��HM��H��LJ[��HI�P�HGS�H�G���GHI�P�GJ�LHGS�HQ�PQ��G°�HGS�H
�́ �[���H�SM��HRP�G�M�GH�JGSHGS�J�H[MRvL�Ṕ ��ÊH[�HM�M[JRH�́ ���M��HP�H
M�QSM[�GH��GG���ÊHM��H[�HMH�J�J�́ �HPIHIṔ �HJ�RS��HSJLSH�JGSHMH�J�J� �́H
�G�Pv�H�J�GSHPIH��HJ�RS�HHIJ��HRP��H���

��H M��HIJ��HS°��M�G�H�SM��H��M�́ ��H��H«��H«H�x�÷��ÊH[�M��HP�H[�P�ø�ÊH
RP�IP��J�LHGPHM���JRM�H�MG��H�P�v�HM��PRJMGJP�H�GM��M��HR��ÊHP�H
MQQ�PK��H�ù́ M�

��H M��H��ù́ J���HQ́ [�JRHIJ��HS°��M�G�H�SM��H[�HJ��GM����ÊHG��G��HM��H
MRR�QG��HQ�JP�HGPH[�LJ��J�LHMQQ�PKM�

�H M��H�PPIHRPK��J�L�H�SM��H[�HR�M��H�M�HM�H�Q�RJIJ��HJ�H[́ J��J�LHRP��H������H
���J���GJM�HRP��H�����HM��H�	��

��H �PPIHKM���°HI�M�SJ�LH�SM��H[�H�PGH����HGSM�H����	xJ�RSHú�P�H��HLM�KM�Jø��H
�S��GHLML�ûHRP��P�JP�x���J�GM�GH��GM�HJ��GM����HPK��HMH�J�H��HJ�RSH�J��H
�́����M°���GHRP��J�GJ�LHPIHP��H�M°��HPIH�P���HM�G�HRMQH�S��GH���GJ�LH
�́ ��J�LHGS�HÍ ��H���LGSHPIHGS�HKM���°�H���J���GJM�HRP��H�������HM��H
[́ J��J�LHRP��H��M��

��H �MJ�HĹ GG���H�SM��H[�HQ�PKJ��H�JGSHMH��M��HGPHQ��K��GHMRŔ �́ �MGJP�HPIH
��MK��HM��H��[�J�HJ�HGS�HĹ GG��Hú�������ÊHR[R��M��û

��H K��G�H�SM��H���J�GHGS�HJ�G�́ �JP�HPIHI�M��HM��H��[���HM��HI�M��H
GS�Ṕ LSHGS�HK��JG�MGJP�HPQ��J�L��HK��GHPQ��J�LH�SM��H[�HQ�PG�RG��H[°H
RP��P�JP�x���J�GM�GÊH�P�RP�[́ �GJ[��H�M��H���SH�JGSHMH�J�H�÷��GSHJ�RSH
PQ��J�L�HM��H�SM��H�PGH�¤R���H�÷�GSJ�RS�HK��G�H�SM��H�PGH[�HJ��GM����HJ�H
�MK��HP�HRP��JR���

	�H R��M�M�R�HPIH[�́ �SHM��HK�L�GMGJK�HL�P�GSH�SM��H[�H�MJ�GMJ���HQ��HIJ��H
RP��H��

���H ��RvJ�LÊH�́ �IMR��ÊH�GMJ�HG��M��ÊH�J����ÊHM��H�M��J�L�HPIH��Rv�ÊHQP�RS��ÊH
M��H[M�RP�J��H�S���HM�°HQP�GJP�HPIH�́ RSH�́ �IMR��HJ�H�JGSJ�H��HI��GHPIH
Q�J�M�°H�G�́ RǴ ��H�SM��H[�HPIHMQQ�PK��H�P�xRP�[́ �GJ[��HRP��G�́ RGJP�

��H�H���x��
�
��GHI��HM��MHQ�M�

��H�H���x��
�
���HI��HM��MHQ�M�

L�P��H�JKJ�LHM��MHGPGM�

M��M M��M

��GHI��H�JKJ�LHM��M �Ê	�	H�I

���HI��H�JKJ�LHM��M �Ê���H�I

LM�ML� ���H�I

GPGM�HM��M �Ê���H�I

Q�P\�RGH���R�JQGJP�w
Q�P\�RGHM������w

��M���GHR�P��x�G���Gw
�PGH�Jø�w
G�MRGH÷H�PGH�Pw
MRR���P�HQM�R��H�́ �[��w
øP�J�Lw
�́ �[��HPIH�GP�°w
�¤J�GJ�LH�Iw
���P�JGJP�w
PRŔ QM�R°HL�Ṕ Qw
RP��G�́ RGJP�HG°Q�w
IJ��H�Q�J�v���w

�J�L��HIM�J�°HSP��
�	��H�M�GMHM�JGMHMK�
�J���MH�M���HRMH	����
�HL�M��HMK�
��Ê�H�I
���	H÷H�
��x���x���
�x�
�
��	�H�IHúGPH[�H���P�û
M��H�¤J�GJ�LH́�JG�
�x�÷́
Kx[
Í ��°H�Q�J�v���

tioülgqjsl|giztqzop

RP���w
����HRM�JIP��JMH���J���GJM�HúR�Rû
����HRM�JIP��JMH���RG�JRM�HúR�Rû
����HRM�JIP��JMH����L°HRP��Hú���û
����HRM�JIP��JMH��RSM�JRM�úR�Rû
����HRM�JIP��JMHQ�́ �[J�LHúRQRû

����HRM�JIP��JMHIJ��HRP��úRIRû
����HRM�JIP��JMH[́ J��J�LHRP��HúR[Rû
����H����L°Hú���ûH�JGSH�PRM�HM��������G�
����HRM�JIP��JMHL����H[́ J��J�LH�GM��M��HRP��H
M��HRP���H�JGSH�PRM�HM��������G�

p̈zqj|̈ ~~hi} |gotljonj{oi¦
RP��G�́ RGH���H�H�GP�°H�M�RSH�G°��HSP��Ê
���P�J�SHM��H�¤J�GJ�LH�G�́ RǴ ���HP�H�PG

ý��aý��ýa����

AE�DFþÿÿ�Dþ�����D�����
C��DFþÿÿ�Dþ�����D�����
�������
�ÿ�����D�ÿ���D��DF�ÿ��
����Dÿ���DAYT��D���þ���
��þ�ÿ��D��DC��DFþÿÿ�

EF
EF
EF
EF
EF
EF

ABCB
AAA
NCC
C]N
O
O

	ý
aý����ý���a����a�����aý��ý�

EF���_m��������a����a�����aý��ý�

EF���_��±�
�C�YCZD�DCZ�DÿFDþÿ�Dÿ���D]�ZOO
�CYCZD�D�CZD�AOXZZDU]ZOO�

þ�����D����DD�D������D�D��þ�ÿ��
�D����Dÿ���DAYT��D���þ���

EFm�_m�AE�DFþ�DD�D������D�D�ÿ�����D�ÿ���
�DABCBD�DNCCD�DC]ND

EF��c�c���ý�a�����aý��ý�

����a�����aý��ýa�ý����ý�����

�����aý��ýa�ý����ý�����

AE�DFþÿÿ�Dþ�����D�����
C��DFþÿÿ�Dþ�����D�����

EF
EF

A�BCB
A�AAA

���a�����ý�a�ý����ý�����

	ý
aý����ý���a����a�����aý��ý� ���_��±�a��a	ý


�RM��w �÷��H�H��x��
�|zqljtyhp

�RM��w �÷��H�H��x��

ioonjtyhp�

í�� ���� !"#!�$ �%#�

î Ô&'()(*+Òî Ó,-&Òî

p

p

��G���®
rzgzpzq}j~ht

p



������

��������

�	�
���

����

�������

��������

��������

�
�
���
��
�

�
�
���
��
�

�	�	�������

��������������	�	�������

�
�
�

�
�
���
��
�


������� ��
�

�������

!
���
��
�

"������

�
�
���
��
�

"
���
��
�

�
���
��
�

#
$
%&'
&$
(

#$%&'&$(

�
���
��
�

�������
�������

�������

"������

��������

������� ��������

�
�
���
��
�

��������

�
�
���
��
�

�
�
���
��
�

)
���
��
�

�������

��
����	�������

�
�
���
��
�

�!������

�
�
���
��
�

!������

*�������+


��,���+

*����+

�!������

�
���
��
�
�

�
���
��
�

�
���
�!
�

�������

"
���
�!
�

�������

,
��
	�
�
�
�
��
�
�-
�
�
�
��

-�������	��

-�������	��

����!�.�!�������/0����!�.�!�������/0

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

����!�.�!�������/0

����!�.�!�������/0

����!�.�!�������/0

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������.�!�������56789

����!�.�!�������/0

������1���������0/
2��������344

�������.�!�������:383:5�;8

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

�������.�!�������<37=>�;8

"�����.�!�������;?@�4;

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������.�!�������4;

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

"�����1�"�������/@
2��������344

����!�.�!�������/0

AB
CDE
DB
F

5G 5G

�������

AH
CDE
DB
F


������	���,��*�
����I�	������J�
KLLMNKOLPQ&R$S&MT&LMU&NVWUXQ&YR&Z&[$&\&#]%'$(
_̂M̀ VWPWQ&aa%'b(&c&ad%'b(&\&R$%'$(

eC
DED
fF

PK̀ P&M̀ P_XKgh

Pî MjPW&_KTUP_j

ACDEDkF

PK̀ P&M̀ P_XKgh

BF

PK̀ P&M̀ P_XKgh

ACDEDkF

PK̀ P&M̀ P_XKgh

PK̀ P&M̀ P_XKgh

��������

eCDEDfF

�
�
���
��
�

�
�
���
��
�
�

�
"
���
��
�

)������
��������

jUMgP&̀PgPP_&K̂ L̂VlKUVMg

�������

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

��������

"������

�
�
���
��
� ��
���
��
�

*�������-

*�������m

��,����*������

)�������

�
�
���
��
�

�
�
���
��
�

�������

�"������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

"�����1���������/@
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

������1���������0/
/=@@�n7o�������

*�������


��,��

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

��
���
��

�����)�

��
���
��

��
���
��

�����)�

��
���
��

"�������

�������



�
�
,
�
�

,
�
�
	�
�
�
�
�p
�
�
�+
,
�
�
�
�
q

����!�.�!�������/0

����!�.�!�������/0

����!�.�!�������/0 ����!�.�!�������/0

��
��
��
.
�)
���
��
��/
@

�������

�
�
���
��
�
�

"
���
��
�
�

!������

+,������	��

r�
6
;
�4
@8
�@
=6
5
�7
>
�/
=;
5
�<
s@
st

��
���
��
�

��
���
�!
�

+,������	��

*
�
�
� 

�
�
,
�
�

keCDEDBF

ufCDEDfF

uf
CDE
DA
fF

�
�
���
��
�

eC
DED
fF

ACDEDkF

ACDEDkF

kC
DED
BF

"������ !������

�������� �
���
��
�

"������

"������

��������

�
���
��
�

"
���
��
�

"
���
��
�

����!�.�!�������/0

������1���������0/
2�"������344

��
��
��
1�
��
��
��
��0
/

2
�"
���
��
�3
44

��
��
��
1�
��
��
��
��0
/

2
�"
���
��
�3
44

eCDEDfF

kCDEDkF

������1���������0/
2�"������344

������1���������0/
2��������344

jlKLPQ Rvab(&\&a%'$(
w+,������� ���

jlKLPQ Rvab(&\&a%'$(
w-�������� ���

_̂MxPlU&WPjl_V̂UVMgQ
_̂MxPlU&KWW_PjjQ

gPK_PjU&l_Mjj'jU_PPUQ
LMU&jVyPQ
U_KlU&v&LMU&gMQ
KllPjjM_&̂K_lPL&gz{OP_Q
yMgVghQ
gz{OP_&MT&jUM_|Q
PiVjUVgh&jTQ
WP{MLVUVMgQ
Mllẑ Kgl|&h_Mẑ Q
lMgjU_zlUVMg&U|̂ PQ
TV_P&ĵ _Vg}LP_Q

jVghLP&TK{VL|&XM{P
a[a$&jKgUK&KgVUK&K̀ P
jVP__K&{KW_P&lK&[a$#~
P&h_KgW&K̀ P
a$�d��&jT
a�]$[&v&~
�]b�'$#$'$$#
_'a
#
ab[b&jT&�UM&OP&WP{MY�
KLL&PiVjUVgh&zgVUj
_'Rvz
'̀O
TzLL|&ĵ _Vg}LP_

 ����
����,
�	 �	��

lMWPjQ
#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&_PjVWPgUVKL&�l_l�
#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&PLPlU_VlKL&�lPl�
#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&PgP_h|&lMWP&�Pgj�
#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&{PlXKgVlKL�l{l�
#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&̂Lz{OVgh&�l̂ l�

#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&TV_P&lMWP�lTl�
#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&OzVLWVgh&lMWP&�lOl�
#$ab&PgP_h|&�Pgj�&NVUX&LMlKL&KW{PgW{PgUj
#$ab&lKLVTM_gVK&h_PPg&OzVLWVgh&jUKgWK_W&lMWP&
KgW&lMWPj&NVUX&LMlKL&KW{PgW{PgUj

��	��,������
,
� ��������
lMgjU_zlU&gPN&#&jUM_|&_KglX&jU|LP&XM{P�
WP{MLVjX&KLL&PiVjUVgh&jU_zlUz_Pj&Mg&LMU

���D����D����

�/7�4@>>8�@=�=6:�3853o
�6;�4@>>8�@=�=6:�3853o
:383:5o
0>�585;�<>80n�37�48>67
3853�>�58����n7�05=@=6:
?3@0>69�37��6;�4@>>8

/4
/4
/4
/4
/4
/4

����
���
���
�)�
�
�

���D���������D�����D�����D�����

/4u�eBk��������D�����D�����D�����

/4u�eBu���
�����"����"��>4�@>7�>�58�)�"��
����"���s�"�r��!""��)"��t

@=�=6:�3853����:383:5���?3@0>69
��3853�>�58����n7�05=@=6:

/4k�Bk��/7�4@8����:383:5���0>�585;�<>80n
����������������)��

/4u�fef�����D������D�����

�����D�����D����D �� ¡�������

������D����D �� ¡�������

�/7�4@>>8�@=�=6:�3853o
�6;�4@>>8�@=�=6:�3853o

/4
/4

�����
�����

���D �������D �� ¡�������

¢£¤¥¤¦§̈ ©ª«¬¥®¦§̄ °±²¤¬¢¥®¦§¤¥«¬¥¦©̈ ¤¦¢£¤¦
³̈ ³̄¤̈ ¢́ ¦©¬§¦°̄ ³́ «̈£¢¥¦̄µ¦³§¥¦¥¢±§«̄¶¦©··¦
§¤¥«¬¥¦©̈ ¤¦µ̄ ¦̈±¥¤¦̄¬¦¢£¤¦¥³¤°«µ«¤§¦³̈ ¯̧ ¤°¢®¦©¬§¦
¬̄ ¦³©̈ ¢¦¢£¤̈ ¤̄ µ¦¥£©··¦¹¤¦°̄ ³«¤§¦̄ ¦̈§«¥°·̄ ¥¤§¦¢̄ ¦
¢̄£¤̈ ¥¦ª«¢£̄ ±¢¦ª «̈¢¢¤¬¦³¤̈ ²«¥¥«̄¬¦µ̈ ²̄¦³§¥¦
¥¢±§«̄¶

¥£¤¤¢¦¬̄ ¶

³·©¬¬¤̈ º

³·̄ ¢¦§©¢¤º

»¼½¾¿¾ÀÁ

 
�
,
�,
��
�
	�

ÂÃ
ZÃ
ÄÅ
&Æ
ÇÈ
É&
ÊÉ
ËÌ
ÍÎ
ÌÎ
Í

]a
a&
ËY
&T
V_
j
U&
K̀
P
�&K
_
l
K
W
VK
&l
K
&[
a$
$b

UP
LQ
&b
#b
'#
[~
'[
~$
#&
&&T
K
i
Qb
#b
'�
]~
'd
b[
R

ÌÎ
ÏY

ÐÐÑÒÑÓÔÐÕ¦ÕºÓÒºÒÕ¦©²

©ÖÓ

¥
«¬

·¤
¦µ
©
²
«·́
¦£̄
²
¤

Ð
Õ
Ð
Ô
¦¥
©
¬
¢
©
¦©
¬
«¢
©
¦©
×
¤

¥
«¤̈

©̈
¦²
©
§̈
¤
®¦
¦°
©
¦¦
Õ
Ð
Ô
Ó
Ò

µ·̄ ¯̈ ³·©¬

Ö

ÁØÙ ÚÛÜÝÞßàáßØâ ÚãáÛ

� �



�������� ��������

������ ������

�	
��
����������������	
��
���������������

��������������� ���������������

������� �������

������� �������

��������

 !����!�

"�
���
��

#�
���
��

��
���
!�

�!
���
�!
�

��
 "
���
��
�

$%
&'(
'%
)

�����*

$%
&'(
'%
)

����
�*

++&'('%)

$$&'(',) ,-&'('.) $,&'('.)

/	0	���
12��
�2��2���/3����1
�2�4���5678����56�8�0
�

����

��9 �� � 9� :��7��

�

��

;<=>?@<AB<CBD<;>EBF>AG;DB<AB
HAIBC;<<EBD<J?KLC>=@AMBE<<C

�������� ��������

������ ������

�	
��
����������������	
��
���������������

��������������� ���������������

������� �������

������� �������

"�
���
��

#�
���
��

��
���
!�

�!
���
�!
�

��

 "
���
��
�

$%
&'(
'%
)

����
�*

$%
&'(
'%
)

�����*

$.&'(',)

$$&'(',)

-%&'('%) NO&'(',) $$&'(',)

/	0	���
12��
�2��2���/3����1
�2�4���5678����56�8�0
�

����9� �

: � � 9

��� �� 9 � : 7 ��

�������� ��������

������ ������

�	
��
����������������	
��
���������������

��������������� ���������������

������� �������

������� �������

��
�!
���
�!
�

��
���
!�

#�
���
��

"�
���
��

 "
���
��
�

PQ
PQ
PQ

R 
"�
�!
��
S
T
UV

 �
���
��
!�

���� 9�9�

9 �����
�� �

E
G
>
E
BF
E
<
F
G
E
?
W
B;
@A
G

C
E
<
A
?
BBF
E
<
F
G
E
?
W
B;
@A
G

�������� ��������

������ ������

�	
��
����������������	
��
���������������

��������������� ���������������

������� �������

������� �������

 "
���
��
�

�"
���
�X
�

"�
���
��

#�
���
��

��
���
!�

�!
���
�!
�

��

PQ
PQ

PQ

R 
"�
�!
��
S
T
UV

 �
���
��
!�

���� 9�

9�

�

�

�

��

��9�� ��

;<=>?@<AB<CBD<;>EBF>AG;DB<ABD<J?KLC>=@AMBE<<C

E
G
>
E
BF
E
<
F
G
E
?
W
B;
@A
G

C
E
<
A
?
BBF
E
<
F
G
E
?
W
B;
@A
G

YZ[\[]̂_̀ abcd\e]̂fghi[cY\e]̂[\bdc\]̀_[]YZ[]
j_fj[_Yk]̀ĉ ]gfjk_bdZY\]fl]ĵ \]\Yĥ bfm]̀nn]
[̂\bdc\]̀_[]lf_]h\[]fc]YZ[]\j[gblb[̂ ]j_fo[gYe]̀ĉ ]
cf]j̀_Y]YZ[_[fl]\Z̀ nn]p[]gfjb[̂ ]f_]̂b\gnf\[̂ ]Yf]
fYZ[_\]abYZfhY]a_bYY[c]j[_ib\\bfc]l_fi]ĵ \]
\Yĥ bfm

\Z[[Y]cfm

jǹ cc[_q

jnfY]̂ Ỳ[q

rstuvuwx

F
I
D
BD
?J
I
@<

yz
{z
|}
�~
��
��
��
��
��
��
�

��
��
��
��

�
�
��
�
1
2
���
�
/
�
�

�
�/
�
�7
��
��

�2
�4
��
��
6�
7�
67
��
��
���
�
�
4�
��
6�
��
6:
�7
9

��
��

���������]�q��q��]̀i

�̀�

\
bc
d
n[
]l̀
i
bn
k]
Z
f
i
[

�
�
�
�
]\̀
c
Ỳ
]̀
c
bỲ
]̀
�
[

\
b[
_
_̀
]ì

_̂
[
e]
]g̀
]]
�
�
�
�
�

[n[�̀ Ybfc\

�

x�� ����������� ����

�/��24 ��:8� ��56�8
CE<A?B¡¢£BG;G¤>?@<A

�/��24 ��:8� ��56�8
EG>EB¡G£BG;G¤>?@<A

�/��24 ��:8� ��56�8

D@IGB¡A£BG;G¤>?@<A

�/��24 ��:8� ��56�8
D@IGB¡D£BG;G¤>?@<A

�������/¥02�����2��2�
����2/3�����2��2�
���¦������¥�����2�
��2/�2����
������
/�12�
�

�����
0	���2���
1
�2���
�2��¦
��¦������2�	�2��

������22�����������������������2

�§���
�¥�
���
��	�2��0	����2��������̈�2��
�2/�2����¦¦�������2�	�2��¥����
�¥�
��
¦
������2���
12�̈����2/���¥2�2
�¥����������
�2��
�¥�
�4�¥�0������̈ ��:��2��22�
�	������0��
���2����¦�������2����¥��:�������2�����2�	�2���������������
�2��4�©	�
ª2��2��2�
����
�¥���¦
����2�	�2��

G;G¤>?@<ABA<?GD

G;G¤>?@<AD
�/��24���:8� �56�8

G«?GE@<EBC@A@DKBD=KGIJ;G
0��2�
�� �

�¥ /���� 0�	��/�	�2

/�/�2�2������
�2 �2�6�
� ����2����2�¬�7�
���2����/¥��/���

2���2�����
���
�2
�

�

9

�

�

�

:

7

��
¦�����
�
�

���
���16����12��
�
�
�8�2����	�2�

��/�
/�¦¥
�2 �02��¥���
2�

¦
��¦ 	������2�
2����
�2������� 2���2��� 0
������¦
��¦�

¦
��¦�������/��
�

���2�1222� ���/32�����2�

��

��¦����	�����
��	��2� /�����/���2����	0
	0 ¦¥
�2 
��¦��3���̈ ���¥2��

2�����
�¥�
�4
���/3���
�2

�22���2�������
ª2�
�
2�/������	0
	0 ©	�
ª2���
�¥�
�

�0���������2�����
/����
/���	/2��/���2/�
�

¦��
�2�¦
��¦� ¦¥
�2�����2������

�

/��¦�0�	��
�

¦������
�
�
¦�������
�2� ¦���¦��3��̈ ���¥2��¦¥
�2��/��������0��/¥�����

��

���/
�������� ���2������ 0
��¦��3��̈ ��	0�2��̈���

�9

9�:�¦���
��
�2�

®¥�0������̈ ��:��2��22��	������
0��
���2����¦�������2������2�
	�2������
�2��������¦�����
�¥�
�

�2/����
12�����2�12�

¦���¦��3��̈ ���¥2��

¦���¦��3��̈ ���¥2��
¥�¦25��/��
�
¦�������
�2�

¦¥
�2�/�2����2¦9��
��	�2�¦�������
��

���2�¦��� 2�����������2

��
���¦���¦������������2/����
12�����2���
�����
/��¥	��2��

¦�������
�2� 02��2����	//�

¦¥
�2�/�2����2¦9��
��	�2�¦�������
��

/202�������2� �0���¥��

�¥ �
�©	2���� 02��2����	//�

¦¥
�2��/��������0��/¥�����

¦¥
�2�/�2����2¦9��
��	�2�¦�������
��

���/3



��������������	

�
�����������������	

 ��������

�������� ���� �������������

���	�����������	

��������� ��

	���

�����

	����

 ��

�����

�����������������

�
�
�
 �
�
�
��
�
�
�
!

�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
!

 ��
���	�����

�����!�"#$%&'�(�)$
�*+,-!�./00121/31+244�54*

67879:;<=>7

?@A8=>BC7

<=>7

D
EF
G
H
I
JK
L
M
EH
N
JO
P
M
I

Q
RQ
SJ
F
TJD
L
F
U
L
JL
F
EU
L
JL
V
I
TW

D
EI
X
X
L
JM
L
Y
X
I
WJZ
L
JR
QS
[\

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
]
�
�
��
�
�
	
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�





 

 

1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024 
 

 
Prepared for: 

 
Philip Chan c/o PDS Studio 

711 First Ave Arcadia, CA 91006 

 Arcadia, CA 91006 

 

January 11, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

 

Javier Cabral Consulting Arborist 

International Society of Arborists # WE- 8116A 

 

1390 El Sereno Ave  

Pasadena, California 91103 

(626)818-8704 

jctcabral@sbcglobal.net 

 

 

 
 

 
Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 1 

   

 
                                                                                                                                                                      
 



 

 

Table of contents 

 
 
Summary ------------------------------------------------------------------ pg. 3  

 

Background and assignment Summary ------------------------------- pg. 3  

 

Google Earth Image & Site Conditions ------------------------------- pg. 4 

 

List Inventory ------------------------------------------------------------- pg. 5  

 

Site Survey With Trees--------------------------------------------------- pg. 6   

 

Tree Pictures -------------------------------------------------------------- pg. 7 thru 14  

 

Protection Guidelines ---------------------------------------------------- pg. 15 thru 17 

 

Certificate of performance & Disclosure Statement ----------------- pg. 18  

 

Arborist Signature Page ------------------------------------------------- Pg. 19  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 2 

 

 

 

 



Summary 
 

Mr. Chan, 

 

You have retained my consulting arborist services to provide a tree inventory and protection plan for the 

property described as 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024. You are in the planning process of 

demolishing the existing single-family home and redeveloping the property with a new two-story single-family 

home. 

 

The proposed demolition and construction is expected to have minimal impact to the protected trees that will 

remain due to the distance of excavations, trenches, and footings to the tree trunks. A complete tree protection 

plan will be included to protect above and below ground tree parts from physical damage, soil compaction, and 

chemical damage.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Background and assignment 

 
 

Mr. Chan has requested that I provide the following arboricultural services. 

1) Identify all significant trees and protected trees on the property and label them on the 

architectural drawings as provided to the arborist by Mr. Philip Chan. 

2) Evaluate the current health of the trees and possible impacts of the proposed construction based 

on the provided site plan and make recommendations. 

3) Provide a tree protection plan that will help ensure the short and long term health of the protected 

trees that will remain during and after construction activities are completed. 
 

 

The following report is based on my site visit on January 9, 2020 and my analysis of the trees, site plan, 

and surrounding landscape. For the purpose of this report I will address these trees as Trees # 1 thru 6. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 3 

 

 



 

Site conditions 
A one-story single-family home currently exists on this property located 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 

91024. 

  

1) There are 6 total trees on the subject property of which 1 Coast live oak tree is protected by the City of 

Sierra Madre Tree Protection Ordinance due to its species. 

2) There are no trees proposed to be removed for this project and a complete tree protection plan will be 

provided for the protected Coast live oak tree in the rear yard.   

 

Google Earth Image 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 4 

 

 

 



 

 

List Inventory  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 5 

 

 



Topographic Survey With Trees 

 
 
Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 6 



 

 

Tree # 1 (facing east) 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 7 

 

# 1 Liquidambar styraciflua 

(DBH = 22 in.) 



 

 

Trees # 2 & 3 (facing north) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 8 

 

 

 

 

# 2 Giant Bird of Paradise                  

(DBH 5+5+6+6 in.) # 3 Giant Bird of Paradise                  

(DBH 5+5+5+5+5+5+6+6+6+6+6+6 in.) 

 



 

Tree 4 (facing northwest) 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 9 

# 4 Giant Bird of Paradise                                        

(DBH 5+5+5+5+5+5+6+6+6+6+7+7+8+8 in.) 

 



 

Tree 5 (facing northeast) 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 10 

 

 

 

# 5 Coast live oak 

(DBH 18 in.) 

 



 

Tree 5 (facing northeast) 
Oak tree trunk is between an existing wood fence and low cinder block wall. The trunk of the Oak tree is 

approximately 4 inches from the block wall and the base of the Oak tree is at an elevation difference of 

approximately 2 ft. from the adjacent property. The block wall is being severely pushed and breaking east away 

from the Oak tree.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 11 

 

 

# 5 Coast live oak 

(DBH 18 in.) 

 

Block wall being pushed and breaking apart 



 
Tree 5 (facing northeast) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 12 

 

 

# 5 Coast live oak 

(DBH 18 in.) 

 

 



Tree 5 (facing canopy) 

 

 
 

 

 
Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 13 

 

 

# 5 Coast live oak 

(DBH 18 in.) 

 

 

Creeping fig vine invading the 

upper canopy  



 

Tree 5 (facing canopy) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 14 

 

 

# 6 Brazilian pepper 

(DBH 2+2+2+2+4+8 

in.) 

 

 



 

General Tree Protection Plan 
 

1) Avoid damaging the roots, stem, and branches with mechanical and manual equipment.  No roots shall 

be severed within the Tree Protection Zone “TPZ” which is the same as the area within the Tree 

Protection Fencing “TPF.” Roots greater than two inches in diameter outside of the TPZ shall be cleanly 

severed with a sharp tool such as a hand saw or manual pruners. 

 

 

 

2) Avoid soil compaction by prohibiting the use of heavy equipment such as backhoes and bobcats under 

the tree drip line. If access within the TPZ is required during the construction process, the route shall be 

covered in a 6 inch layer of mulch in the TPZ and the area shall be aerated and fertilized at the conclusion 

of construction.  

 

 

  

3) Do not store or park tools, equipment, vehicles, or chemicals under the tree drip line. No equipment or 

debris of any kind shall be placed within the TPZ. No fuel, paint, solvent oil, thinner, asphalt, cement, 

grout, or any other construction chemical shall be stored or allowed in any manner to enter within the 

TPZ.    

 

 

 

4) Avoid washing of equipment and tools such as wheel barrels, shovels, and mechanical motors under the 

tree drip line. 

 

 

 

5) Prevent flooding and pooling of service water under the drip line. Grade changes that will flood the TPZ 

are prohibited unless a drainage plan is implemented. No grade changes within the TPZ shall be allowed. 

 

 

 

6) Avoid cutting tree roots whenever possible. This can sometimes be accomplished by bridging roots, 

tunneling, or radial trenching. If roots must be cut use a sharp tool that will make a clean flush cut and not 

tear the roots. If possible all digging under the tree drip line should be done manually to avoid tearing out 

of roots. Roots outside of the TPZ may be cleanly severed vertically with a sharp garden tool. 

 

 

7) Do not raise or lower the grade within the tree protection zone of any protected trees unless approved 

by the project arborist. Roots greater than 1 inch in diameter that are exposed or damaged shall be cut 

with a sharp tool such as a hand saw, pruners, or loppers and covered with soil in conformance to industry 

standards as soon as possible. If any work is required within the TPZ the Arborist shall be consulted 

previous to beginning. The Arborist shall be contacted as soon as possible to arrange for a timely 

inspection and prevent delays.   

  
Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 15 

 



 

 

8) Protection fencing shall be 5 to 6 ft. high chain link freestanding panels or secured to posts driven into the 

ground. There shall be no entry gates into the protected zones. The protection fencing shall be in place 

before demolition begins and shall only be removed or reduced when all heavy equipment such as 

back-hoes, bobcats, loaders, and other heavy equipment with tires and tracks will not be required. 

Fencing can be adjusted or sections reduced or removed as the project advances into the landscaping 

phases of the project. The consulting arborist shall be contacted if there are doubts about the placement or 

removal of fencing. 

 

 

9) Landscape preparation & excavation within the TPZ shall be limited to the use of hand tools and 

small hand-held power tools and shall not be of a depth that could cause root damage. No attachments or 

wires other than those of a protective or non-damaging method shall be attached to a protected tree. 

 

 

 

 

10) Construction personnel should be briefed on the importance of the guidelines before construction 

begins and reminded of it during tailgate meetings and as necessary. A printed copy should be posted 

where employees can be reminded of it.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 16 

 



 

Site Plan With Protection Fencing  

 
 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 17 



 

 

Certificate of Performance & Arborists Disclosure Statement 

 

 

 
I Javier Cabral certify the following: 

 
• No warranty is made, expressed or implied, that problems or deficiencies of the trees or the property will not 

occur in the future, from any cause. The Arborist shall not be responsible for damages or injuries caused by any 

tree defects and assume no responsibility for the correction of defects or tree related problems. The Arborist 

assumes no responsibility for damage to trees as a result of the construction activities as the Arborist cannot 

always be present to witness all construction tasks near the subject trees.     

• The owner and client of the trees may choose to accept or disregard the recommendations of the Arborist or 

seek additional advice if the owner decides not to accept the Arborists findings or recommendations. 

• The Arborist has no past, present or future interest in the removal or preservation of any tree. The opinions 

contained in the Arborist report are independent and objective judgements of the Arborist. 

• The findings, opinions, and recommendations of the Arborist are based on based on the physical inspection of 

said property. The opinions are based on knowledge, experience, and education. 

• The Arborist shall not be required to provide testimony, provide site monitoring, provide further documentation 

for changes beyond the control of the Arborist, be deposed, or to attend any meeting without contractual 

arrangements for additional fees to the Arborist. 

• The Arborist assumes no responsibility for verification of ownership or location of property lines, or for any 

recommendations based on inaccurate information. 

• This Arborist report may not be reproduced without the expressed written permission of the Arborist and the 

client to whom the report was provided to. Any changes or alteration of this report invalidates the entire report.   

• Arborists are tree specialists who use their education, knowledge, training and experience to examine 
trees, recommend measures to enhance the beauty and health of trees, make recommendations to prevent or 

minimize damage to trees during and after construction projects, and attempt to reduce the risk of living near 

trees.  Clients may choose to accept or disregard the recommendations of the arborist, or to seek 
additional advice. 

• Arborists cannot detect every condition that could possibly lead to the structural failure of a tree.  Trees 
are living organisms that fail in ways we do not fully understand.  Conditions are often hidden within 
trees and below ground.  Arborists cannot guarantee that a tree will be healthy or safe under all 
circumstances, or for a specified period of time.  Likewise, remedial treatments, like any medicine, cannot 
be guaranteed. 

• Treatment, pruning and removal of trees may involve considerations beyond the scope of the arborist’s 
services such as property boundaries, property ownership, site lines, disputes between neighbors, and 
other issues.  Arborists cannot take such considerations into account unless complete and accurate 
information is disclosed to the arborist.  An arborist should then be expected to reasonably rely upon the 
completeness and accuracy of the information provided. 

• Trees can be managed, but they cannot be controlled.  To live near trees is to accept some degree of risk.  
The only way to eliminate all risk associated with trees is to eliminate all trees. 

 

 
 

 

 

Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 18 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Philip Chan “PDS Studio” 1910 Santa Anita Ave Sierra Madre, CA 91024                                                   January 11, 2020   

Javier Cabral / Consulting Arborist                                                                                                                            Pg. # 19 

 
 

      

 



EXHIBIT D 

SITE PHOTOS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



EXHIBIT D 

SITE PHOTOS 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 



������������	
���	������
��

��������� � ����
�	��	

���� ���	
 !� �" #�	��$� ���


	�#���	
���$�$�	�%$��

&' ()*+,-,./0�/,10��/,123 145/6�/ 7 (+8*9� (:*( 7';7<= 7><?7

&@ ()9A,B/CDEE6,123 145/6�/ 7 (+8)F: (:F: 7G;HI= 7><?&

&& ()9�,-,./0�/,10��/,123 145/6�/ 7 :899� (:*� 7H;H?= 7>H7?

7< (:(*,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 )8�)F (:** K?;I<= 7>HKI

I ((++,B/CDEE6,LM .�344/,J/643 7 ��8+)) (:9+ H;@&= 7>H'K

&7 (:(*,N�O�/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8A9� (:*� 7H;'7= 7>I7G

7G (:A*,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8(:+ (:*P 7H;@@= 7>I&&

7? (:++,./0�/,10��/,123 .�344/,J/643 K ((8+(F (:*9 7<;HK= 7>IGK

K7 (:A+,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+89)+ (:*A 7H;'@= 7>IH@

7K (:�+,./0�/,10��/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 ((8P9+ (:*F 7<;7G= 7>I@I

K' (:*+,./0�/,10��/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 ((8:*F (:*� 7<;7@= 7>@&'

@ �(�(,./0�/,10��/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 ((8+F( (:9� 7H;'I= 7>@G7

&H ()*(,B/CDEE6,123 145/6�/ 7 (+8*+( (:*� 7I;G@= 7>@GK

&< ()FF,-,./0�/,10��/,123 145/6�/ 7 (+8F:P (:*A 7I;H&= 7>@<<

KI (:F*,N�O�/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8)A: (:*� 7I;K<= 7>@H@

&I ()*P,B/CDEE6,123 145/6�/ 7 (+8F:� (:*� 7@;&&= K>?KI

7' (:�*,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8)*P (:*( 7@;?7= K>?<G

7I (:++,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 :8*�P (:*F K7;H?= K>?<H

7@ (:(+,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8F�A (:*� K?;7?= K>?@'

KG (:9+,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 ((8F�9 (:*( 7I;'G= K>77I

7H (:+*,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 )8F)� (:*P K';7?= K>7K@

KK (:F+,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 ((8(+* (:*� 7@;G'= K>7<?

&K (:+*,N�O�/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8(++ (:*� K7;GG= K>7<'

K? (:�+,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8AA: (:*9 K?;@@= K>7H?

&G ()*9,-,./0�/,10��/,123 145/6�/ 7 :8P�P (:F) KK;IH= K>KK'

K< (:9*,N�O�/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (�8P:+ (:*A 7I;7K= K>&7I

KH (:**,N�O�/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8:P) (:*( K7;<7= K>&HK

G ((A*,Q,R4/062�3D,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (F8::) (:*( 7';@G= K>&@7

H ((�+,B/CDEE6,LM .�344/,J/643 7 (F8:P+ (:9( 7<;'7= K>GHK

' ((�*,Q,R4/062�3D,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (�8)�F (:*9 K?;7I= K>'II

ST ())*,-,./0�/,10��/,123 145/6�/ 7 (+8*�P (:F: KG;@H= K><K@

&? (:�*,N�O�/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (+8PF( (:*F K';&?= K>H7I

G? ()9�,B/CDEE6,123 145/6�/ 7 (+8*9P (:*A K<;<&= K>I7G

K& (:*+,B/CDEE6,123 .�344/,J/643 7 ((8**P (:*( K';H@= K>@I7

7 �(+(,./0�/,10��/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 A98(AP (:FF I;&@= &>?&&

77 (:(+,./0�/,10��/,123, .�344/,J/643 7 ((8A)+ (:*� K<;H7= &>?G?

K@ (:A*,N�O�/,123 .�344/,J/643 K (+8*)� (:*A KI;IG= &>?'K

7& (:A+,./0�/,10��/,123 .�344/,J/643 K (+8)** (:*A KI;<&= &>7?I

K �+P*,./0�/,10��/,123 .�344/,J/643 7 (F8::) (:*9 K?;II= &>7&7

< ((A+,B/CDEE6,LM .�344/,J/643 7 (F8)*+ (:P: KK;HH= &>&I7

& ((F*,Q,R4/062�3D,123 .�344/,J/643 K A98(AP �+(9 @;@?= &>'HH

U/O3,E0,/,O/VWM3,EX,F+,03�YZ[E4�0Y,W4EW34��3O\

/234/Y3,XMEE4,/43/,EX,03�YZ[E4�0Y,ZEV�3O\ �8�)+OX

/234/Y3,XMEE4,/43/,EX,�Z3,�EW,(]A,�O\, �8:(AOX

_̂̀ abcde_fgchibjdkhgj_glhdmno_cdfmgpkhcbmhq

rc_a_ehsgti__cgbchbguvwxygetgdeq

ggggggggbzg{chbjhcgjnbfgbkhcbmhgo|g }~�et

ggggggggbzg{chbjhcgjnbfgbkhcbmhg_tg�_agy�ugo|g T�}et



WINDOW/DOOR CASING

CROWN MOULDING

FASCIA BOARDS

WOODWORK 

CONCRETE ROOF WINDOW

EAGLE ROOFING TILE       

COLOR: SLATE RANGE #297

RANGE OF CHARCOAL

FINISH: BEL-AIR

MILGARD WINDOWS

ULTRA SERIES (FIBERGLASS)

COLOR: BLACK

SDL PRAIRIE GRID 

ELDORADO STONE

COLLECTION: STACKED STONE

TYPE: ALDERWOOD

JAMES HARDIE

COLOR: ARCTIC WHITE

FINISH: ARTISAN V - GROOVE SIDING

EXTERIOR LIGHTING

CEMENT PLASTER

MERLEX STUCCO

COLOR: P-141 BISQUE

FINISH: SMOOTH FINISH

AMARR, GARAGE DOOR

COLOR: WHITE

FINISH: CLASSICA LUCERN COLLECTION

W/NILE WINDOWS

GARAGE DOORS

STONE VENEER WOOD SIDING

QUOIZEL LIGHTING

COLOR: DEL CAST ALUMINUM

FINISH: BLACK OXIDE

ILLUSTRATION & MATERIAL BOARD

WOODWORKS BY OTHERS

MILLWORK BY LUMBER YARD

COLOR: WHITE CREST (DEW357)

FINISH: PAINTED (DUNN EDWARDS PAINT)

1910 N. SANTA ANITA AVE, SIERRA MADRE



Item Attachment Documents: 

 

2. The Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing to consider a request for HDP 15-20 and CUP 

15-21 to allow the construction of a new two-story single-family residence with an attached two-car 

garage for a total of 3,956 square feet.  Pursuant to City of Sierra Madre Municipal Code Section 

17.52.070.C.2, construction of a single-family dwelling unit in the Hillside Management Zone requires 

approval of a HDP.  Pursuant to Condition of Approval No. 159 of Tract Map 54016, any development 

which can be seen from the location of the Macomber Cabin, Carter Barn or the Willis Estate is subject to 

a CUP to ensure that the development contrasts with the design of these cultural resources, and to protect 

these cultural resources by distinguishing them from their non- 

  



  

 
1, 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE: February 20, 2020   
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Vincent Gonzalez, Director of Planning & Community Preservation 
 
PREPARED BY:  John Steinmeyer, Senior Planner  
 
SUBJECT: Hillside Development Permit #15-20 (HDP 15-20), Conditional Use 

Permit 15-21 (CUP 15-21), and Minor Conditional Use Permit 20-
01 (MCUP 20-01); to allow construction of a new single family 
residence with an attached two-car garage for a total of 3,932 
square feet; and Design Review Permit (DRP at 1 Nathaniel 
Terrace [(Lot 9, Tract 54016) in the Stonegate development area]. 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve Hillside Development Permit 
14-02 and Conditional Use Permit 14-08, subject to the conditions of approval in Planning 
Commission Resolution 20-02. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 

1. Approve the application for Hillside Development Permit 15-20, Conditional Use 
Permit 15-21, and Minor Conditional Use Permit 20-01 pursuant to Resolution 20-02, 
subject to the conditions of approval. 

2. Approve with modifications the application for Hillside Development Permit 15-20, 
Conditional Use Permit 15-2, and Minor Conditional Use Permit 20-01 with 
modifications pursuant to Resolution 20-02, subject to the conditions of approval. 

3. Deny the application for Hillside Development Permit 15-20, Conditional Use Permit 
15-21, and Minor Conditional Use Permit 20-01 identifying the findings the 
Commission feels cannot be made and the basis for rejecting those findings. 

4. Continue the subject project, and provide direction to staff and applicant. 

 

 

 
Planning Commission  

STAFF REPORT 

John Hutt, Chair 
Thomas Denison, Vice-Chair 
Joseph Catalano, Commissioner 
Peggy Dallas, Commissioner 
Manish Desai, Commissioner 
William Pevsner, Commissioner 
Bob Spears, Commissioner 
 
Vincent Gonzalez, Director  

Planning & Community Preservation  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 2 

 

 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
At the November 21, 2019 public hearing, the Commission recommended continuance of 
the application for further design development by the architect.  The Commission made 
comments and addressed several design issues.  Based on the Commission’s comments, 
the architect has revised the project as follows: 
 

 Planning Commission Comment Architect’s Response 

1. Relocate building mass toward the rear of the lot 
and follow natural grade. 
 

The rear massing of the house was moved 6’-8” toward the rear. 
This was made possible by proposing new and relocated 
retaining walls.  The revised shape and new location of the 
proposed new retaining wall will enclose the northwest flat 
portion behind the existing wall increasing the useable rear yard 
for the house. The massing of the house is in a U-shaped 
configuration. The two-story and upper massing of the U-shape 
is concentrated on the northwestern portion of the site where 
the terrain is rising. The southeastern portion starts as a one 
story mass stepping up in height towards the north, following 
the upward direction of the terrain. 

2. Relocate building mass within the hillside by 
grading and/or considering enlarging the basement. 
 

The rear massing of the house was moved to the rear 6’-8”.  
It was not necessary to enlarge the basement. The new plan 
has a smaller basement. 

3. Engage the house with the street corner to achieve 
a more welcoming appearance. 
 

The southeast corner is a low one-story mass to provide a more 
pedestrian scale. The building entry and approach is also 
designed not to overpower the overall style of the architecture. 
The entry/foyer is a low one-story wing between two larger arms 
of the U-shaped building. A paved stepped pathway leads you 
to the entry. At the east side yard, along Baldwin Court, a 
covered porch is proposed, connecting the interior to the 
exterior. 

4. Consider revising the site plan. 
 

The site plan and landscape plan have been revised to conform 
to the revised floor plan of the house. The number of site walls 
are reduced, and the steps at the west side yard are eliminated. 
A new retaining wall is proposed to replace the existing 
retaining wall to increase the useable rear yard of the house. 

5. The house lacks architectural identity. 
 

The revised exterior elevation of the house is a contemporary 
interpretation of Irving Gills’ Prairie style houses in Southern 
California. It is characterized by: simple plaster walls, wood trim, 
deep overhanging eaves, low-pitched hip roofs, large casement 
windows with divided lights at the top, horizontal trim separating  
the heavier base from the lighter top massing, and bay windows 
with sun-shades. 

6. Address the proportions of the stone entry portal. 
 

The revised design no longer includes a stone entry portal. The 
revised entry is a plaster-clad low one-story wing between the 
two arms of the u-shaped mass of the house. Behind the 
entry/foyer is a courtyard. 

7. Consider a different roof style/configuration. 
 

The revised design proposes mainly low-pitched hipped roofs 
(2.5:12 slope), with a few gable roofs in a few locations (also 
2.5:12 slope). The overall configuration is comprised of simple 
roof forms and resulted in the elimination of flat roof. 



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 3 

 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND AND PROJECT PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant, LCRA Architecture & Planning, on behalf of Robert Ho, is requesting that 
the Planning Commission consider Hillside Development Permit #15-20 (HDP 15-20) and 
Conditional Use Permit 15-21 (CUP 15-21) to allow construction of a two-story, single 
family residence and garage for a total of 3,932 square feet.  Pursuant to SMMC Section 
17.52.070.C.2, construction of a single family dwelling unit on an existing legal lot in the 
Hillside Management Zone requires approval of a HDP.  Pursuant to Condition of 
Approval No. 159 of Tract Map 54016, any development which can be seen from the 
location of the Macomber Cabin, Carter Barn or the Willis Estate is subject to a CUP to 
ensure that the development contrasts with the design of these cultural resources, and to 
protect these cultural resources by distinguishing them from their non-historic context.  In 
addition, the application requests a Minor Conditional Use Permit (MCUP 20-01) to 
provide a five-foot side (west) yard setback instead of the required 7’-4” setback required 
in the Hillside Management Zone. 
 
This project was originally submitted to the Planning & Community Preservation 
Department on March 5, 2015.  On April 2, 2015, the staff deemed the application 
incomplete.  On March 23, 2010, the City of Sierra Madre and the CETT Investments 
Corporation, the owner of Lots 1-29 of the Stonegate development project, entered into 
settlement agreement regarding the City’s review procedures for development area 
encompassing the 29 lots.  To date, the Planning Commission has approved applications 
for new single-family residences on Lots 7, 21, 22, 24, and 25.  On November 21, 2019, 
the Commission reviewed the application at a public hearing and continued the 
application for further design development by the architect. 
 
CRITERIA FOR REVIEW OF THE PROPOSED PROJECT 
 
The project is subject to the requirements of the Hillside Management Zone and the 
conditions of approval associated with Tract Map 54016.  In addition, the project is subject 
to agreed-upon exceptions to several requirements of the HMZ Ordinance which are 
identified in a Settlement Agreement approved on March 23, 2010 as resolution to a 
lawsuit filed against the City by the predecessor of the current property owner, CETT 
Investments Corporation. These exceptions include maximum allowable floor area, 
placement of buildings over slopes, parking, and height restrictions of the Settlement 
Agreement. 
 
The Settlement Agreement states that the maximum permissible gross floor area of 3,956 
square feet for Lot 9 is not a guarantee of the floor area that will be authorized in the 
discretionary review process, but that such floor area shall be considered in good faith 
together with the lot size and configuration and the design, layout and architectural 
treatment of the proposed residence in a manner consistent with the Settlement 
Agreement. The Settlement Agreement further states that the maximum permissible 
gross floor area shall not be reduced arbitrarily, and that any reduction thereof must be 
based on guidelines, findings and criteria articulated in the Settlement Agreement or in 
the HMZ Ordinance. 



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 4 

 

 

 
 

 
The project design is also subject to review for its compliance with the Stonegate Design 
Guidelines, adopted by the City Council on July 15, 2010. 
 
STONEGATE DEVELOPMENT AREA AND THE PROJECT SITE 
 
Lot 9 is located on the northwest side of Baldwin Court and Nathaniel Terrace in the 
center of the Stonegate development area (formerly known as One Carter).  The other 
lots, which are currently vacant, are located to the north, west, and east of the subject 
site. 
 
The subject property is a 17,562 square-foot vacant lot that is zoned H (Hillside 
Management) and has a General Plan Land Use designation of H (Hillside). The lot is 
split into two previously graded building pads.  The site is an irregular and roughly square-
shaped lot contoured by the abutting streets with a building pad on its south side.  All of 
the adjacent properties are zoned H (Hillside Management) and are also located within 
the Stonegate development area.  
 

 

   
Lot 9 - Vicinity Map 
______________________________________________________________________ 



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 5 

 

 

 
 

 
PROPOSED PROJECT 
 
DESIGN ANALYSIS: 
 
Site plan and floor plan 
 
The house footprint is U-shaped with a small central courtyard.  The house is a split-level 
design with two stories, an attached garage, and a basement.  The ground floor includes 
a foyer; parlor/library with a porch; guest suite with bathroom; storage area; and two-car 
garage.  The second floor includes three bedrooms; three bathrooms, kitchen; and great 
room combined with living and dining areas. 
 
Vehicular access to the attached two-car garage is from a sloped driveway from Nathaniel 
Terrace.  Due to the irregular property line configuration, the house has multiple setbacks.  
The front setbacks from Nathaniel Terrace and Baldwin Court are 25’-0”, respectively.   
The rear setback from the northern property line is 138’-4”; and the west side yard setback 
is 5’-0” instead of the 7’-4” setback required in the Hillside Management Zone.  The 
application requests a Minor Conditional Use Permit (MCUP) for the proposed 5’-0” side 
yard setback.  The applicant asserts the reduced side yard setback is necessary in order 
to provide a successful site plan for the house on the corner lot, which requires two 
respective 25’-0” street setbacks.  Within the setbacks are several retaining walls and 
landscaped areas. 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
Lot 9 – Site Plan. 
______________________________________________________________________ 



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 6 

 

 

 
 

 
Architecture, building form, and materials 
The two-story house is a contemporary interpretation of the domestic Prairie architectural 
design style. It has multiple hipped roofs, asymmetrical façades and fenestration, and 
substantial modulation on both floors. The windows are generally large and are arranged 
in groups or are single lights.  Architectural details include bay windows, a side yard porch, 
exposed rafter tails, balconies, a chimney, and traditional style wall sconces.  The walls 
are predominantly fine stand stucco.  The secondary materials of the house area 
aluminum clad windows and doors, wood frame members, Hardie fiber cement trim 
board, and an asphalt shingle roof.   
 
Colors and finishes 
The house color palette is brown earth tones.  The plaster walls are two shades of beige 
(DE 6128 and DE 6129, respectively).  The wood features are taupe brown (DE 6060).  
The aluminum clad doors and windows are painted bronze-colored brown (Sierra Pacific 
Colorstay Antique Bronze).  The asphalt shingle roof is a blend of brown tones. 
   

 

 
 
Lot 9 – Perspective Illustrations. 

  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 7 

 

 

 
 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 

 
Lot 9 – Noted Elevations. 
______________________________________________________________________  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 8 

 

 

 
 

______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
Lot 9 – Building Sections. 
______________________________________________________________________  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 9 

 

 

 
 

 
Landscape,  Hardscape, and Lighting 
The Stonegate Design Guidelines include a recommended plant palette (trees, shrubs, 
vines, ground cover, and perennials) for properties located in the tract.  The 
recommended palette consists of plant types with low water consumption that are 
adaptable to hillside/mountainous environments.  The landscape plan for the project 
proposes Jacaranda, Lilac Vine, Strawberry Tree, Hollyleaf Cherry, Sugar Bush, 
Prostrate Rosemary, Manzanita, Starn Baccharis, California Lilac, Bougainvillea, 
Chaparral Honeysuckle, Toyon, California Coffeeberry, California Polypody, Gazania, 
Howard McMinn Manzanita, and  Toyon.   The existing Coast live oaks will be retained 
and incorporated into the landscape plan.  The landscape palette is rich in color and 
texture and includes several flowering plants.  The planting scheme responds to the 
topography of the site and will have a natural appearance that is compatible with the 
hillside setting.  The lighting plan consists of up-lights, well lights, and wall lights on the 
house and perimeter of the yards.  All lighting is required to comply with objectives and 
policies of the Dark Sky chapter of the General Plan.   
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
Lot 9 - Landscape Plan. 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 10 

 

 

 
 

 
 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
 

Category Existing Proposed  
Code Requirement or 
Allowed by Settlement 

Agreement 

Complies 
with HMZ or 
Settlement 
Agreement 

Lot size 17,562 s.f. No Change 17,562 s.f. Yes1 

Lot Coverage N/A 

 
3,781 s.f. 

(building + 
impervious areas) 

4,351 s.f. (110 % of 
allowable gross floor 

area) 
Yes2 

Building Height N/A 24’-3" 25’ Yes3 

Gross Floor Area N/A 
 

3,932 sf. 
 

3,956 sf. Yes4 

Building 
Setbacks:  
 
Front 
 
 
Sides 
 
(property is a 
corner lot) 
 
 
Rear 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N/A  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

25’ 
 
 

 
5’-0”, 25’-0” 

 
 

 
 

138’-4” 

 
 
 

25’ 
 
 

22’-3” (30% of 
cumulative width of 77.4’ 
with a minimum 10% of 
lot width on either side) 

 
 

15’ 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes, if 
approved by 
Commission5 

 
 
 
 

Parking N/A  2 car garage 
2 spaces per dwelling 

unit in a garage or 
carport 

Yes6 

 
1 Complies with Section 5.2 of the Settlement Agreement.  
2  Complies with HMZ Section 17.52.120.A.6 
3  Complies with HMZ Section 17.52.160.C.b  
4 Complies with Exhibit H of Settlement Agreement. 
5  Complies with HMZ Section 17.52.120.A.4, which requires lots in the HMZ to comply with the setback 

requirements found within Section 17.20.060 of the Municipal Code (R-1 Zoning standards). 
6  Complies with HMZ Section 17.52.120.A.9, which requires lots in the HMZ to comply with parking 
requirements found within Section 17.68.020 of the Municipal Code (Parking Spaces Required). 
  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 11 

 

 

 
 

LINE OF SIGHT STUDY 
 
A Line of Sight Study was prepared on September 27, 2019 to determine if the proposed 
house is designed and sited so as to protect the views of prominent ridgelines from the 
twenty-five (25) designated viewpoints in the City identified in the Hillside Management 
Zone ordinance. 
 
The Study uses two criteria to determine if the new house will comply with the City’s 
ridgeline view protection requirements:  1)  if the line of sight from an intersection to the 
a prominent ridgeline is unobstructed by the new structure; or 2) if the line of sight is 
obstructed by the new structure, there is another feature (existing construction, trees, or 
hillside protrusion) in the foreground that blocks the view of the new house, and therefore, 
the sightline is already impacted, and there is no new impact from the new structure.   The 
study included sightline views from 25 locations.  Based on the results, all of the 
viewpoints passed Criteria 1.  Therefore, the project complies with the applicable line of 
site requirement. 
 
SUITABILITY ANALYSIS 
 
A Suitability Analysis was prepared for the project on September 27, 2019.  The Suitability 
analysis surveys the following existing conditions of the property:  Category 4 slopes, 
riparian areas, drainage areas, flood plains, vegetation types, and prominent ridgelines.  
The Analysis shows that a small portion of the house and retaining walls on the north side 
of the property will be located in the Category 4 slope.  The analysis concludes that there 
are no sources of vegetation, riparian areas, drainage areas, or flood plains on the subject 
site.  
 
PARKING REQUIREMENT 
 
The project requires a minimum of two on-site parking spaces in a garage or carport. The 
house will have an attached, two-car garage in the front yard with access from Baldwin 
Court. 
 
DESIGN COMPLIANCE REVIEW REGARDING WILLIS ESTATE 
 
Condition of Approval (COA) No. 159 of Tract Map 54016 (the Stonegate area) “requires 
that any development on a lot created by the Map which can be seen from the location of 
the Macomber Cabin, the Carter Barn or the Willis Estate shall contrast with the design 
of these historic resources.” Sapphos Environmental Inc. conducted a design compliance 
review of the project subject to COA No. 159. On October 25, 2019.  Sapphos submitted 
a Memorandum for the Record stating that the proposed project is sufficiently 
differentiated from the existing historic structures in that it is a contrasting contemporary 
design with references to Prairie and Craftsman Style architecture.  The new project will 
use modern materials (plaster, aluminum windows, fiber cement board, asphalt roof 
shingles, etc.), it will have different building massing, and it will have a different site 
orientation to the street and environs. 



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 12 

 

 

 
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
The proposed project qualifies for a Categorical Exemption (Class 3), pursuant to Section 
15303(a) New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures, of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) because it proposes the construction of one new 
single family residence in a residential zoning district.  
 
ANALYSIS/ FINDINGS  
 
Hillside Development Permit 
 
In approving a Hillside Development Permit, the Planning Commission shall make all of 
the following findings: 
 

a. The proposed development is consistent with and serves to implement the 
General Plan and specifically, those General Plan goals and policies that 
pertain to hillside development; in that the project site has a General Plan Land 
Use Designation of H (Hillside) and the request for a HDP is consistent with the 
following Objectives and Policies of the City’s General Plan: 

 
Objective L12:  Facilitate hillside preservation through development standards and 
guidelines which provide direction and encourage development sensitive to the 
unique characteristic found in the hillside area of the city.   
 
 Policy L12.1: Determine that development density of sites based on a 

calculation that uses slope as a primary factor, that is, the steeper the slope, 
the more restrictive the density.   

 
Policy L12.2: Ensure that development in the hillside areas is located in 
those areas resulting in the least environmental impact.  

  
Objective L13:  Ensure that hazards are minimized in the hillside. 
 

Policy L13.1: Minimize the amount of grading and removal of natural 
vegetation allowed to prevent creation of land instability or fire hazards.   

 
Objective L14: Protect the views to and from hillside areas in order to maintain the 
image and identity of the City as a village of the foothills. 

 
Policy L14.1:  Require the use of natural materials and earth tone colors for 

all structures to blend with the natural landscape and natural chaparral vegetative 
growth.  

 
b. The proposed development is consistent with the purposes of Chapter 17.52; 

in that it complies with all applicable development standards including setbacks, 



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 13 

 

 

 
 

height, floor area, lot coverage, and parking.  The house would be located on an 
existing building pad and the project minimizes impacts to the sloped areas and 
natural undisturbed hillside.    
 

c. The design of the development minimizes exposure of persons to natural 
hazards and maximizes access to public open space areas; in that the 
proposed residence would be constructed in compliance with all building and fire 
code provisions concerning exposure to natural hazards. The majority of the house 
and garage would be located on the flat pad on the property in order to avoid 
impact sloped areas.  The project would not affect access to public open space 
areas.  
 

d. The design and location of structures or uses avoids, eliminates, or 
adequately mitigates each of the environmental constraints described in this 
chapter and other significant environmental impacts identified upon 
environmental review of the application; in that the majority of the proposed 
house with a basement would be constructed on an existing flat building pad, 
thereby preserving natural features of the property.  Most of the house and garage 
construction will be limited to an area categorized as Slope Category 1 (0 to 14.9 
percent).  Vegetation removal will be limited to those species identified by the City’s 
Fire Marshal as having potential for moderate to high flammability and which are 
not listed as sensitive or critical habitat.  

  
e. The proposed development complies with the standards set forth in this 

chapter, including Section 17.52.120 (Design and development standards for 
uses requiring hillside development permits) and Section 17.52.160 
(Architectural and site design standards); in that one single family dwelling unit 
is proposed for the lot.  The project complies with all applicable development 
standards including setbacks, height, floor area, lot coverage, and parking.  The 
siting, massing, landscaping, and earth tone colors of the house are compatible 
with the hillside setting. 

 
Conditional Use Permit Findings 
 
The CUP is required to ensure that the design of the proposed residence, which can be 
seen from the Macomber Cabin, Carter Barn and Willis Estate, contrasts with the design 
of these structures.  Pursuant to Municipal Code Section 17.60.040, before any 
conditional use permit is granted, the application shall show to the reasonable satisfaction 
of the Planning Commission the existence of the following facts: 
 
a. That the site for the proposed use is adequate in size, shape and topography; 

in that the site is sufficiently large to accommodate the proposed residence while 
meeting all requirements set forth in the City’s Municipal Code, including setbacks, 
lot coverage and parking.  The size, shape and topography of the site do not affect 
the design of the residence in terms of its contrast with the design of the Macomber 
Cabin, Carter Barn and Willis Estate.    



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 14 

 

 

 
 

 
b. That the site has sufficient access to streets which are adequate, in width 

and pavement type to carry the quantity and quality of traffic generated by 
the proposed use; in that Baldwin Court was built to serve the levels of traffic 
generated by the lots in the subdivision. 
 

c. That the proposed use will not unreasonably interfere with the use, 
possession and enjoyment of surrounding and adjacent properties; in that 
the design of the house will use modern materials (plaster, metal clad windows), it 
will have different building massing, and it will have a different site orientation to 
the street and environs.  These features and materials will distinguish the new 
construction from existing historic structures in the vicinity.  The proposed single-
family residential use is consistent with existing and future single-family residential 
development in the vicinity. 
   

d. That there is a demonstrated need for the use requested; in that the subject 
lot was created through a subdivision map so as to allow construction of new 
residences such as the one proposed in the application.     
 

e. That the use will, as to location and operation, be consistent with the 
objectives of the General Plan;   
 
Objective L12:  Facilitate hillside preservation through development standards 
and guidelines which provide direction and encourage development sensitive to 
the unique characteristic found in the hillside area of the city.   
 

Policy L12.2: Ensure that development in the hillside areas is located in 
those areas resulting in the least environmental impact.  

 
Objective L14: Protect the views to and from hillside areas in order to maintain 
the image and identity of the City as a village of the foothills. 
  

f. That the public interest, convenience, and necessity require that the use be 
permitted at the location requested; in that the proposed residential use is a 
permitted use in the H (Hillside Management) Zone and is meeting the intent of the 
City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance’s development standards pursuant to 
the subject zone as prescribed by Chapter 17.52.  The project site contains an 
existing building pad intended for single-family residential development. The 
project’s design and contemporary materials distinguish it from existing historic 
structures in the vicinity, which complies with Condition of Approval No. 159  

  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 15 

 

 

 
 

Minor Conditional Use Permit Findings for Reduced Side Yard Setback 

Pursuant to SMC 17.60.028, the Planning Commission may grant a modification of a 
required yard as follows: 

1. That the proposed request will not be detrimental, or otherwise be inconsistent 
with the residential character of the neighborhood; in that the west side yard 
setback of five feet is in character with the single family residential development in 
area.  The Stonegate development area has a variety of unique lot conditions in 
which a modified setback is appropriate for a new development. 
 

2. That the site of the proposed request is adequate in size, shape and 
topography to accommodate the request; in that lot is 17,652 square feet and the 
two-story house will have two, 25’-0” street setbacks and a rear setback of 138’-4”. 
The project meets all other applicable development standards including height, floor 
area, and lot coverage. 
 

3. That the proposed request will not unreasonably interfere with the use, 
possession and enjoyment of surrounding and adjacent property owners; in 
that the two story house will have sufficient setbacks and suitable site plan and 
architectural design to not interfere with the use, possession, and enjoyment of 
surrounding and adjacent property owners. 
 

4. That there is a demonstrated need for the use requested; in that the subject site 
is a corner lot that is fronted by two streets that require 25-foot setbacks, 
respectively.  The reduced west side yard setback is needed in order to achieve a 
successful site plan for the project. 
 

5. That the proposed request will be arranged, designed, constructed, operated 
and/or maintained so as to be compatible with the intended character of the 
surrounding area and shall not change the essential character of the 
surrounding area from that intended in the general plan; in that the two-story 
single-family residence will be consistent with the hillside setting and the single-
family residential development in the neighborhood. 

  



HDP 15-20, CUP 15-21 & MCUP 20-01 – 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9) – February 20, 2020 
Page 16 

 

 

 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE PROCESS 
 
This item has been noticed through the regular agenda notification process. Copies of 
this report are available at the City Hall public counter, the Sierra Madre Public Library, 
and on the City’s website. 

 
Attachments: 

  
Exhibit A: Planning Commission Resolution 20-02 
Attachment A: Revised Project Narrative, Plans, Elevations, and Illustrations  
Attachment B:  Neighborhood Analysis* 
Attachment C:  Site Photographs* 
Attachment D: Prominent Ridgeline Map* 
Attachment E: Site Suitability Analysis* 
Attachment F: Line of Sight Analysis* 
Attachment G: List of Intersections Code Section 17.52.120(A)(10)* 
Attachment H: Historic Resource Memorandum of Record (October 25, 2019)* 
Attachment I: Project Application of HDP 15-20*, CUP 15-21*, MCUP 20-02 
Attachment J: Colors, Materials, Catalog Cut Sheets 
 
Attachments noted with an asterisk (*) are unchanged and they can be 
referenced in the previous application submittal packet. 



 
PC RESOLUTION 20-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SIERRA 
MADRE APPROVING HILLSIDE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT #15-20 (HDP 15-20), 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 15-21 (CUP 15-21), AND MINOR CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT 20-01 (MCUP 20-01); TO ALLOW CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW SINGLE 
FAMILY RESIDENCE WITH AN ATTACHED TWO-CAR GARAGE FOR A TOTAL OF 
3,932 SQUARE FEET; AND DESIGN REVIEW PERMIT (DRP  AT 1 NATHANIEL 
TERRACE [(LOT 9, TRACT 54016) IN THE STONEGATE DEVELOPMENT AREA]. 

 
 

THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SIERRA MADRE DOES 
HEREBY RESOLVE: 
 

WHEREAS, an application for Hillside Development Permit and Conditional 
Use Permit were filed by: 

 
Lim Chang Rohling & Associates 

35 Hugus Alley 
Pasadena, CA  91103 

 
WHEREAS, the request for HILLSIDE DEVELOPMENT PERMT AND 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIMT can be described as: 
 
A request to allow construction of a new single family residence with an attached two-car 
garage for a total of 3,932 square feet at 1 Nathaniel Terrace (Lot 9 of Tract 54016) in the 
Stonegate development area. 
 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to SMMC Section 17.52.070.C.2, construction of a 
single family dwelling unit on an existing legal lot in the Hillside Management Zone 
requires approval of a Hillside Development permit;  

 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Condition of Approval No. 159 of Tract Map 54016, 

any development which can be seen from the location of the Macomber Cabin, Carter 
Barn or the Willis Estate is subject to a Conditional Use Permit to ensure that the 
development contrasts with the design of these cultural resources, and to protect these 
cultural resources by distinguishing them from their non-historic context. 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has received the report and 

recommendations of staff; 
 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Planning Commission on  
February 20, 2020 with all testimony received being made part of the public record;  
 

WHEREAS, the project qualifies for a Categorical Exemption (Class 3), 
pursuant to Section 15303(a) New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures, of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) because it proposes the construction of one 
new single family residence in a residential zoning district; and  
 



 

 

 

2 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the evidence received at the 
hearing, and for the reasons discussed by the Commissioners at said hearing, the 
Planning Commission now finds as follows: 

 
Hillside Development Permit Findings 
In approving a Hillside Development Permit, the Planning Commission shall make all of 
the following findings pursuant to Municipal Code Section 17.52.090.E.3: 
 

a. The proposed development is consistent with and serves to implement the 
General Plan and specifically, those General Plan goals and policies that 
pertain to hillside development; in that the project site has a General Plan Land 
Use Designation of H (Hillside) and the request for a HDP is consistent with the 
following Objectives and Policies of the City’s General Plan: 

 
Objective L12:  Facilitate hillside preservation through development standards and 
guidelines which provide direction and encourage development sensitive to the 
unique characteristic found in the hillside area of the city.   
 
 Policy L12.1: Determine that development density of sites based on a 

calculation that uses slope as a primary factor, that is, the steeper the slope, 
the more restrictive the density.   

 
Policy L12.2: Ensure that development in the hillside areas is located in 
those areas resulting in the least environmental impact.  

  
Objective L13:  Ensure that hazards are minimized in the hillside. 
 

Policy L13.1: Minimize the amount of grading and removal of natural 
vegetation allowed to prevent creation of land instability or fire hazards.   

 
Objective L14: Protect the views to and from hillside areas in order to maintain the 
image and identity of the City as a village of the foothills. 

 
Policy L14.1:  Require the use of natural materials and earth tone colors for 

all structures to blend with the natural landscape and natural chaparral vegetative 
growth.  

 
b. The proposed development is consistent with the purposes of Chapter 17.52; 

in that it complies with all applicable development standards including setbacks, 
height, floor area, lot coverage, and parking.  The house would be located on an 
existing building pad and the project minimizes impacts to the sloped areas and 
natural undisturbed hillside.    
 

c. The design of the development minimizes exposure of persons to natural 
hazards and maximizes access to public open space areas; in that the 
proposed residence would be constructed in compliance with all building and fire 



 

 

 

3 

 

code provisions concerning exposure to natural hazards. The majority of the house 
and garage would be located on the flat pad on the property in order to avoid 
impact sloped areas.  The project would not affect access to public open space 
areas.  
 

d. The design and location of structures or uses avoids, eliminates, or 
adequately mitigates each of the environmental constraints described in this 
chapter and other significant environmental impacts identified upon 
environmental review of the application; in that the majority of the proposed 
house with a basement would be constructed on an existing flat building pad, 
thereby preserving natural features of the property.  Most of the house and garage 
construction will be limited to an area categorized as Slope Category 1 (0 to 14.9 
percent).  Vegetation removal will be limited to those species identified by the City’s 
Fire Marshal as having potential for moderate to high flammability and which are 
not listed as sensitive or critical habitat.  

  
e. The proposed development complies with the standards set forth in this 

chapter, including Section 17.52.120 (Design and development standards for 
uses requiring hillside development permits) and Section 17.52.160 
(Architectural and site design standards); in that one single family dwelling unit 
is proposed for the lot.  The project complies with all applicable development 
standards including setbacks, height, floor area, lot coverage, and parking.  The 
siting, massing, landscaping, and earth tone colors of the house are compatible 
with the hillside setting. 

 
Conditional Use Permit Findings 
 
The CUP is required to ensure that the design of the proposed residence, which can be 
seen from the Macomber Cabin, Carter Barn and Willis Estate, contrasts with the design 
of these structures.  Pursuant to Municipal Code Section 17.60.040, before any 
conditional use permit is granted, the application shall show to the reasonable satisfaction 
of the Planning Commission the existence of the following facts: 
 
a. That the site for the proposed use is adequate in size, shape and topography; 

in that the site is sufficiently large to accommodate the proposed residence while 
meeting all requirements set forth in the City’s Municipal Code, including setbacks, 
lot coverage and parking.  The size, shape and topography of the site do not affect 
the design of the residence in terms of its contrast with the design of the Macomber 
Cabin, Carter Barn and Willis Estate.    

 
b. That the site has sufficient access to streets which are adequate, in width 

and pavement type to carry the quantity and quality of traffic generated by 
the proposed use; in that Nathaniel Terrace was built to serve the levels of traffic 
generated by the lots in the subdivision. 
 



 

 

 

4 

 

c. That the proposed use will not unreasonably interfere with the use, 
possession and enjoyment of surrounding and adjacent properties; in that 
the Italian Renaissance Revival Style house will use modern materials (plaster, 
metal windows), it will have different building massing, and it will have a different 
site orientation to the street and environs.  These features and materials will 
distinguish the new construction from existing historic structures in the vicinity.  The 
proposed single-family residential use is consistent with existing and future single-
family residential development in the vicinity. 
   

d. That there is a demonstrated need for the use requested; in that the subject 
lot was created through a subdivision map so as to allow construction of new 
residences such as the one proposed in the application.     
 

e. That the use will, as to location and operation, be consistent with the 
objectives of the General Plan;   
 
Objective L12:  Facilitate hillside preservation through development standards 
and guidelines which provide direction and encourage development sensitive to 
the unique characteristic found in the hillside area of the city.   
 

Policy L12.2: Ensure that development in the hillside areas is located in 
those areas resulting in the least environmental impact.  

 
Objective L14: Protect the views to and from hillside areas in order to maintain 
the image and identity of the City as a village of the foothills. 
  

f. That the public interest, convenience, and necessity require that the use be 
permitted at the location requested; in that the proposed residential use is a 
permitted use in the H (Hillside Management) Zone and is meeting the intent of the 
City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance’s development standards pursuant to 
the subject zone as prescribed by Chapter 17.52.  The project site contains an 
existing building pad intended for single-family residential development. The 
project’s design and contemporary materials distinguish it from existing historic 
structures in the vicinity, which complies with Condition of Approval No. 159. 

  



 

 

 

5 

 

Minor Conditional Use Permit Findings 

Pursuant to SMC 17.60.028, the Planning Commission may grant a modification of a 
required yard as follows: 

1. That the proposed request will not be detrimental, or otherwise be inconsistent 
with the residential character of the neighborhood; in that the west side yard 
setback of five feet is in character with the single family residential development in 
area.  The Stonegate development area has a variety of unique lot conditions in 
which a modified setback is appropriate for a new development. 
 

2. That the site of the proposed request is adequate in size, shape and 
topography to accommodate the request; in that lot is 17,652 square feet and the 
two-story house will have two, 25’-0” street setbacks and a rear setback of 138’-4”. 
The project meets all other applicable development standards including height, floor 
area, and lot coverage. 
 

3. That the proposed request will not unreasonably interfere with the use, 
possession and enjoyment of surrounding and adjacent property owners; in 
that the two story house will have sufficient setbacks and suitable site plan and 
architectural design to not interfere with the use, possession, and enjoyment of 
surrounding and adjacent property owners. 
 

4. That there is a demonstrated need for the use requested; in that the subject site 
is a corner lot that is fronted by two streets that require 25-foot setbacks, 
respectively.  The reduced west side yard setback is needed in order to achieve a 
successful site plan for the project. 
 

5. That the proposed request will be arranged, designed, constructed, operated 
and/or maintained so as to be compatible with the intended character of the 
surrounding area and shall not change the essential character of the 
surrounding area from that intended in the general plan; in that the two-story 
single-family residence will be consistent with the hillside setting and the single-
family residential development in the neighborhood. 

 
 

PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS, IT IS RESOLVED that the 
Planning Commission APPROVES Hillside Development Permit 15-20 and Conditional 
Use Permit 15-21, subject to the conditions of approval in the attached Exhibit A. 
 
The approval is final, unless appealed to the City Council in writing within ten (10) days 
following the adoption of this Resolution, pursuant to the provisions of Section 17.60.120 
of the Sierra Madre Municipal Code. 
  



 

 

 

6 

 

The time in which to seek judicial review of this decision shall be governed by Code of 
Civil Procedure Section 1094.6.  The Planning Commission Secretary shall certify to the 
adoption of this resolution, transmit copies of the same to the applicant and his counsel, 
if any, together with a proof of mailing in the form required by law and shall enter a certified 
copy of this resolution in the book of resolution of the City. 
 
APPROVED, the 20th day of February 2020, by the following vote: 
 
 
 
AYES:  
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:  
 
 
               
                                                                            John Hutt, Chair 
       Sierra Madre Planning Commission 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
    
Vincent Gonzalez, Director 
Planning & Community Preservation Department 

  



 

 

 

7 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
HDP 15-20 and CUP 15-21 

 
General Conditions: 
 
The applicant shall: 
 

1. Comply with all applicable provisions of the Sierra Madre Municipal Code, 
including but not limited to those Chapters pertaining to Zoning, Building and 
Construction, Vehicles and Traffic, and Health and Safety, and including all such 
provisions which may be contained in Uniform Codes which have been 
incorporated by reference within the Sierra Madre Municipal Code. 

 
2. Comply with all applicable provisions of Federal, State and Los Angeles County 

law and regulations, including but not limited to the California Environmental 
Quality Act. 

 
3. Execute and deliver to the City’s Department of Planning & Community 

Preservation an Affidavit of Acceptance of Conditions on a form to be provided by 
such Department within ten business days of the date of this approval. This 
approval shall not be effective for any purpose until the Applicant complies with 
this condition. 
 

4. To the fullest extent permitted by law, fully protect the City, its employees, agents 
and officials from any loss, injury, damage, claim, lawsuit, expense, attorneys’ 
fees, litigation expenses, court costs or any other costs arising out of or in any way 
related to the issuance of this approval, or the activities conducted pursuant to this 
approval. Accordingly, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the applicant shall 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless City, its employees, agents and officials, from 
and against any liability, claims, suits, actions, arbitration proceedings, regulatory 
proceedings, losses, expenses or costs of any kind, whether actual, alleged or 
threatened, including, but not limited to, actual attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses 
and court costs of any kind without restriction or limitation, incurred in relation to, 
as a consequence of, arising out of or in any way attributable to, actually, allegedly 
or impliedly, in whole or in part, the issuance of this approval, or the activities 
conducted pursuant to this approval. Applicant shall pay such obligations as they 
are incurred by City, its employees, agents and officials, and in the event of any 
claim or lawsuit, shall submit a deposit in such amount as the City reasonably 
determines necessary to protect the City from exposure to fees, costs or liability 
with respect to such claim or lawsuit. 

  



 

 

 

8 

 

Planning Conditions: 
 
The applicant and property owner shall: 

1. Construct the project in substantial conformance with all applications and 
supporting materials presented to the Planning Commission on February 20, 2020 
Inaccuracies and misrepresentations will be grounds for immediate revocation of 
the Hillside Development Permit and Conditional Use Permit. 

 
2. Submit construction plans, for 1st Plan Check within one (1) year of the date of this 

approval; failure to do so will constitute an abandonment of the entitlement, and 
shall render this approval null and void.  

 
3. Pay Development Impact Fees to the City’s Planning and Community Preservation 

Department prior to issuance of building permits for new development.     
 
4. The applicant or property owner will not be granted a building permit unless all 

requirements in the Deferred Improvement Agreement entered into on or about 
August 2, 2007, between One Carter, LLC and the City of Sierra Madre and 
recorded against the property on or about August 22, 2007 (“DIA”) have been 
completed, except that a building permit (but not a certificate of occupancy) may 
be issued prior to compliance with section 3.5 of the DIA.  No building permit may 
be issued unless such issuance would be consistent with the requirements of the 
Deferred Improvement Agreement and any document incorporated by the 
Deferred Improvement Agreement.  

 
5. Provide appropriate screening/temporary fencing of the construction areas and 

equipment during grading and construction to the satisfaction of the Director of 
Planning and Community Preservation.  (MM 4.8-2a) 

 
6. Prior to the issuance of building permits, prepare siting studies for the review and 

approval by the Planning and Community Preservation Department that 
conclusively demonstrates that all proposed structures are set back at least 15 feet 
from the toe of any ascending slope, or that demonstrate that through the 
construction of retaining walls, which have minimum freeboards of two feet, 
unconsolidated soils mantling natural slopes near proposed structures are 
adequately retained.  (MM 4.2-2b and 4.2-7a) 

 
7. Prior  to the issuance of building permits, provide a letter to the Planning and 

Community Preservation Department  certifying that the grading was 
accomplished in accordance with the approved set of plans and that  the grading 
complies with his or her recommendations for site grading. 

 
8. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for a residence on any individual lot, the 

Applicant shall ensure that the licensed landscape architect prepares a 
landscaping plan for the review and approval of the Director of Planning and 



 

 

 

9 

 

Community Preservation.  
 
9. All Utilities are underground. 
   
10. Ensure that project elevations and materials of proposed structures and facilities 

shall not produce excessive glare and shall be appropriately screened from views 
off site. 

 
11. Ensure that all security light fixtures and standards shall be either shielded or 

directed away from neighboring properties and streets.  Exposed bulbs shall not 
be permitted.  All fixtures shall have glare control shields. 

 
12. Require compliance with Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance. 
 
13. The exterior stucco walls, fence and retaining walls shall be painted an earth tone 

color. Under no circumstances shall any paint color selected for the exterior of the 
house, stucco fences or retaining walls exceed a light reflective value of 70. 

 
14. Applicant shall pay for an arborist of the City's choice to observe the on-site 

construction of infrastructure structures and ensure the integrity and health of the 
roots and canopy of the oak tree located on the adjacent lot at the south east corner 
of the property. 
 

15. The project shall comply with California Energy Code (CEC) 150.1(b)14.  All solar 
equipment shall be integrated with the project design to minimize any aesthetic 
impacts. 
 

Public Works Department Conditions 
 
The applicant and property owner shall include for Plan Submittal Completion: 
 

1. Arborist report is accepted and all recommendations for tree protection shall be 

followed. 

2. Project must be in compliance with the City’s Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance. 

All buildings must be connected to public sewer. 

3. Ensure that the type and location of lighting standards and the intensity of lighting shall 

be approved by the City Public Works Director.  (MM 4.6-5c and 4.8-4). 

4. Satisfy all of the following conditions prior to the issuance of a building permit: 
 
 Los Angeles County Flood Control District has accepted the transfer of the 

entire storm drain system to its jurisdiction for operation and maintenance; and 



 

 

 

10 

 

 Owner to confirm that the issuance of and compliance with all regulatory 
permits associated with the debris basins for Los Angeles County maintenance 
program for the 1 Carter Debris Basin; and 

 The Community Facilities District established January 10, 2012 under City 
Council Resolutions 11-94, 11-95, and 12-05 shall be modified to have its per 
parcel assessment amounts increased to cover all costs of the maintenance 
and operation of the entire storm drain system, including the debris basins, 
catch basins, clarifier, and underground piping. Such costs shall include all 
costs associated with issuance of and compliance with all regulatory permits 
associated with the debris basins and drainage system. 

 
5. Submit a final precise grading, low impact development plan and drainage plan for 

review and approval by the Public Works Department prior to issuance of building 
permit. 

 
6. Demonstrate that each subsequent application for a phase of development 

includes a conceptual grading plan to indicate at a minimum: 
 
 Preliminary quantity estimates for grading. 
 Techniques and methods which will be used to prevent erosion and 

sedimentation during and  after  the  grading  process  in  compliance  with   
the  City  Standards   and  NPDES requirements. 

 Preliminary pad and roadway elevations. 
 Designation of any borrow or stockpile site location for import/export 

material (including, but not limited to, soil, rock, and various construction 
materials) 

 No material shall be stockpiled for more than 30 days. Stockpiles shall be 
covered when is in place for more than ten days or when the five-day weather 
forecast calls for a greater than 60% chance of rain. 

 Approximate time frames for development including the identification of 
areas, which will be graded between October 15th and April 15th. 

 Hydrology and hydraulic concerns and mitigations. 
 
7. Ensure that all provisions of the Tree Ordinance (SMMC 12.20) shall apply to the 

construction of infrastructure and to future construction on individual residential 
lots, prior to first plan check submittal. 

 
8. Ensure that the type and location of lighting standards and the intensity of lighting 

shall be approved by the City Public Works Director.  (MM 4.6-5c and 4.8-4) 
 

Conditions of approval for Grading and Low Impact Development (LID) 
 

1. Applicant to retain the services of CA licensed civil engineer. The Private 

Engineer of record (or Engineer of record) shall design the drainage systems, 

and provide engineering calculations, in accordance with these directives to 

retain, and infiltrate the 85th percentile of rainfall for Sierra Madre, which varies 



 

 

 

11 

 

between 1.05 and 1.12 inches. Engineer of record shall design the drainage 

configuration of the development to account for this directive. 

 

2. Private Engineer to prepare a grading drainage, LID plan to a scale not less than 

1”=10’. 

 

3. Engineer of record to prepare a hydrology/LID report to address compliance with 

the MS4 /NPDES requirements. 

 

4. The engineer of record shall also in addition to the LID design provide a design of 

the drainage system for a 50 year storm.  

 

5. This project is subject to LID requirements, since it is proposing to add more than 

500 square feet of impervious surfaces. Private engineer or architect to design a 

runoff infiltration system, to retain onsite and infiltrate onsite a volume of runoff 

equal to the total area of new impervious areas proposed multiplied by 85th 

percentile rainfall. The retention and infiltration volume shall be calculated in 

cubic feet. 

 

6. Private engineer to design an infiltration system which conforms with LA County 

LID Manual, and all permit requirements 

 

7. SOILS/GEOTECHNICAL REPORT REQUIRED  Applicant/owner to retain the 
services of a geotechnical engineer to obtain an adequate numbers of soil 
samples from the site , analyze the samples and prepare a soils/geotechnical 
report and make recommendations on the condition of the soil at the project site. 
At least one of the sample to be located in the area where the proposed 
infiltration units will be located. The analysis and report shall conform to CBC 
requirements, latest edition, and SMMC.  
 

8. PERCOLATION RATE STUDY 
a. Soils engineer for the project to submit a soil percolation rate value based 

on a study from soil sample taken at the site at the depth of where the 

infiltration units will percolate the runoff to the soil strata. A soil percolation 

test for storm water infiltration may not be required, if engineer can 

determine the type of soil in the area, based on official maps and records, 

or an existing or new soils report of the property and establish a range of 

values for the percolation rate of the soil, at the project address, based on 

soils engineering reference studies. If this record search cannot be 

established then a soils percolation test will be required. 

 

b. Soils/geotechnical engineer of record shall submit an analysis (in a 

separate report) on the extent of soil settlement beneath the infiltration 



 

 

 

12 

 

units. Soils/geotechnical engineer to make recommendations on 

measures to be implemented by the Contractor to minimize excessive 

settlement of the soils strata beneath the infiltration units Report and 

analysis to be prepared following guidelines included in the LA County LID 

Manual. Report should indicate the maximum ground settlement expected 

with the type of soil on the lot. 

 

9. Soils engineer of record to prepare on a separate sheet calculations for the time 

it will take any runoff to percolate through the soils strata. The maximum time 

allowed for runoff to percolate is 96 hours. 

 
Fire Department Conditions: 
 
The applicant and property owner shall: 

 
1. Install fire sprinklers in all structures per NFPA 13D or CRC R313. 
 
2. Compliant with CBC 7A Wildland. 
 
3. Prior to issuance of building permits, submit fire sprinkler plans to the Fire 

Department for review and approval.  (CFC Article 10, CBC Chapter 9). 
 
4. Prior to issuance of building permits, submit plans for structural protection from 

vegetation fires to the Fire Department for review and approval, and provide fuel 
modification zones.  (CFC Appendix II-A). 

 
5. Prior to issuance of a building permit, submit to the Fire Department a simple plot 

plan or map in an electronic file of the .DWG format or another format acceptable 
to the Fire Department. 

 
 

(end of conditions) 
 
 

























































































































































































































North Baldwin Avenue

N
at

ha
ni

al 
Te

rr
ac

e

OLEA

QUERCUS

QUERCUS

MALOSMA

MALOSMA

(1135)

(1130)(1125)

(1120)

(1115)

(1115)

(1110)

(1110)

(1110)

(1110)

(1105)

(1105)

(1105)

(1100)

(1100)

(1100)

(1105)
(1105)

(1110)

(1105)

(1
12

0)

(1
12

5)

(1
13

0)

(1
13

5)

(1135)

(1130)

(1125)

(1120)

(1115)

(1115)

(1140)

(1135)

(1130)

(1125)

(1120)

(1115)

(1115)

ALL EXISTING VEGETATION TO REMAIN

HP
(APPROXIMATE)

+

+

+

NOTES:
REMOVAL OR THINNING OF UNDESIRABLE COMBUSTIBLE VEGETATION AND REMOVAL OF DEAD OR DYING LANDSCAPING ON NATURAL SLOPE TO MEET MINIMUM BRUSH CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS.
-  PRUNING AND THINNING TO REDUCE THE OVERALL FUEL LOAD AND CONTINUITY OF FUELS.
-  FUEL LOADS SHALL BE REDUCED BY PRUNING LOWER BRANCHES OF TREES AND TREE-FORM SHRUBS TO 1/3 OF THEIR HEIGHT, OR 6 FEET FROM LOWEST HANGING BRANCHES TO THE GROUND, 
   TO HELP PREVENT FIRE FROM SPREADING AND MAKE MAINTENANCE EASIER.  
-  TREES WITH UNDERSTORY PLANTS SHOULD BE LIMBED UP AT LEAST THREE TIMES THE HEIGHT OF THE UNDERLYING VEGETATION OR UP TO A HEIGHT OF 40 FEET, WHICHEVER IS LESS, 
   TO HELP PREVENT FIRE FROM SPREADING UPWARD TO THE CROWN.
-  ACCUMULATED PLANT LITTER AND DEAD WOOD SHALL BE REMOVED.  DEBRIS AND TRIMMINGS PRODUCED BY THINNING AND PRUNING SHOULD BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE OR CHIPPED AND 
   EVENLY DISPERSED IN THE SAME AREA TO A MAXIMUM DEPTH OF 6 INCHES.
-  ALL INVASIVE SPECIES AND THEIR PARTS SHOULD BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE.

NATURAL EXISTING SLOPE ZONE - EXISTING TREES AND SHRUBS TO REMAIN (E.G., Heteromeles arbutifolia, Baccharis pilularis), Malosma laurina, Encelia farinosa).

FRONT & REAR MANUFACTURED SLOPE ZONE - ALL THE EXISTING SCRUB TO BE REMOVED AND REPLACED BY DROUGHT TOLERANT, NON-INVASIVE, LOW FUEL SPECIES. 

LEGEND

EXISTING CMU SPLIT-FACE
WALL W/DRAINAGE
CHANNEL

MALOSMA LAURINA
TO BE REMOVED

GRADED BUILDING PAD
(RELATIVELY LEVEL)

EXISTING GRADE
APPROX. 1103

EXISTING GRADE
APPROX. 1109

EXISTING GRADE
APPROX. 1113

GRADED BUILDING PAD
HIGHER ELEVATION
(RELATIVELY LEVEL)

MALOSMA LAURINA
TO BE REMOVED

PROPERTY
LINE

MALOSMA LAURINA
TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING CMU
RETAINING WALL 
AT HYDRANT

EXISTING CMU
RETAINING WALL 
AT HYDRANT

EXISTING CMU
RETAINING WALL 
AT HYDRANT

EXISTING NATURAL
WOODED AREA

(TO REMAIN UNDISTURBED)

+

NEIGHBORING SINGLE-FAMILY
RESIDENTAL PROPERTY

TREES TO BE REMOVED

CLEARED AND GRADED BUIDING PAD

TREES TO REMAIN 

PROPOSED BUILDING FOOTPRINT

NORTH

City Submittal
ROBERT HO
1 Nathanial Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9)
Sierra Madre, California 91024

  06 February 2020  

SHEET

L-1
HO RESIDENCE (Stonegate Lot 9) - Existing Conditions Plan

942 Dale Street                            garyfishbeck.com
Pasadena, CA, 91106                         626 864 0038

Landscape Architecture
GARYFISHBECK

SCALE:  1/8"=1'-0" @ 30" x 42"

0 2 4 8 16 32

©  Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc.  All rights reserved.  Protected by Federal Copyright law.  No part
of this document may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, in whole or in part, at
any time intentionally or otherwise, without prior written permission from Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc. 
Note that copyright infringements include works that are duplicative or substantially similar.



NORTH

City Submittal
ROBERT HO
1 Nathanial Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9)
Sierra Madre, California 91024

  06 February 2020  

SHEET

L-2
HO RESIDENCE (Stonegate Lot 9) - Illustrative Site / Planting Plan (Entire Property)

942 Dale Street                            garyfishbeck.com
Pasadena, CA, 91106                         626 864 0038

Landscape Architecture
GARYFISHBECK

SCALE:  1/8"=1'-0" @ 30" x 42"
0 2 4 8 16 32

©  Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc.  All rights reserved.  Protected by Federal Copyright law.  No part
of this document may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, in whole or in part, at
any time intentionally or otherwise, without prior written permission from Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc. 
Note that copyright infringements include works that are duplicative or substantially similar.

Lot 9 Narrative - Proposed Landscape Design 

The site design and planting for Stonegate Lot 9 is conceived in response to several important factors, including the functional needs and aesthetic desires of the Owner, the contem-
porary style of the architecture, local geology, topography, microclimate, soil type, water conservation, ecology and aesthetic characteristics of the surrounding natural context.

Important programmatic requirements of the Owner include use of native, drought tolerant, and low fuel plants, a small lawn area, a degree of privacy from the road and neighbors, a 
contemporary garden, and views of the mountains.

Geology is also a factor regarding plantings.  Given the shallow depth to bedrock (fractured granitic material), plant pits may need to be deeper than normal to accommodate the 
plants, and some shallow excavations may be necessary to replace existing materials with granular soils to facilitate stormwater infiltration. 

Topography has been considered regarding the appearance of the house from the street and in relation to neighbors. 

Given the steep Category 4 slopes on the north side of the property, all plants with strong soil-holding ability will be specified.  Select clearing of fuel material will be undertaken with 
care and as little disturbance to the Category 4 slope to reduce potential or excessive erosion.  

Soil texture has been considered in terms of plant selection and drainage.  Given the  relatively fine-textured soils, an attractive uniform groundcover will be employed in lieu of bare 
soil to help minimize surface run-off from the front yard to the street.  Underdrainage of planting areas and of pervious pavement might be necessary despite the fact that the underly-
ing bedrock may facilitate internal drainage.

Water conservation is achieved by proposed use of a state-of-the-art irrigation system, broad use of drought-tolerant plant species/cultivars, and minimal use of cultured lawn.  All 
plantings are carefully organized into irrigation zones according to seasonal water needs.  Plantings and irrigation will comply with the City’s Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 
pursuant to Chapter 15.60 of the Sierra Madre Municipal Code.

Low impact development is addressed by measures stated above (plant selection, irrigation, ecological sensitivity, etc.) and by broad use of pervious paving.  Impervious paving is 
minimized not only because of the maximum impervious requirement on the lot, but also because of the Owner’s desire to be environmentally responsible in terms of stormwater 
management.  The underlying objective of pervious pavement, which is to minimize run-off beyond property lines and to recharge groundwater, is also achieved by directing stormwa-
ter to infiltration areas on the property.  The limited amount of stormwater that is directed either to the street or to the rear of the property is first treated via infiltration and/or planted 
areas.

SE
C

O
N

D
 F

LO
O

RFI
RS

T 
FL

O
O

R

N
at

ha
ni

el 
Te

rr
ac

e

North Baldwin Avenue

GUEST ROOM
VIEWING GARDEN

(LEVEL AREA)

LAWN
(LEVEL AREA)

HOWARD MCMINN MANZANITA
Arctostaphylos ‘Howard McMinn’

CALIFORNIA LILAC
Ceanothus ‘Ray Hartman’ 

HOLLYLEAF CHERRY
Prunus ilicifolia ssp. ilicifolia

SUGAR BUSH
Rhus ovata

STARN BACCHARIS
Baccharis ‘Starn’

PROSTRATE ROSEMARY
Rosmarinus  o�cinalis 
‘Huntington Carpet’

STRAWBERRY TREE
Arbutus unedo

LILAC VINE
Hardenbergia violacea
‘Happy Wanderer’

JACARANDA (Multi)
Jacaranda mimosifolia

CALIFORNIA COFFEEBERRY
Rhamnus californica ‘Eve Case’

CHAPARRAL HONEYSUCKLE
Lonicera subspicata

BOUGAINVILLEA
Bougainvillea spectabilis 

TOYON
Heteromeles arbutifolia (cv)

CALIFORNIA LILAC
Ceanothus thyrsi�orus var. griseus ‘Yankee Point’’ 

HOWARD McMINN MANZANITA
Arctostaphylos ‘Howard McMinn’

BLUE FESCUE
Festuca glauca ‘Elijah Blue’

CALIFORNIA POLYPODY
Polypodium californicum

GAZANIA
Gazania rigens leucolaena

EXISTING MALOSMA LAURINA 
TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING QUERCUS AGRIFOLIA
TO REMAIN

WOODLAND
RESTORATION

QUERCUS AGRIFOLIA (some multi-stem)
QUERCUS ENGLEMANII (some multi-stem)
ARCTOSTAPHYLOS GLAUCA
CARPENTERIA CALIFORNICA
CEANOTHUS GLORIOSUS
BERBERIS ‘GOLDEN ABUNDANCE’
HETEROMELES ARBUTIFOLIA
RHAMNUS CALIFORNICA
CERCIS OCCIDENTALIS
RIBES VIBURNIFOLIUM
AGAVE SHAWNII

EXISTING QUERCUS AGRIFOLIA
TO REMAIN

EXISTING QUERCUS AGRIFOLIA
TO REMAIN

EXISTING OLEA EUROPAEA
TO REMAIN

REPRESENTATIVE PLANT PALETTE

EXISTING MALOSMA LAURINA 
TO BE REMOVED



Landscape Data: 
New Landscape Area:  6219 sf
Existing Natural Area to Remain: 8211 sf
Total Landscape Area: 14430 sf 

Paving Data:
Permeable Paving: 620 sf
Impermeable Paving: 946 sf

NORTH

City Submittal
ROBERT HO
1 Nathanial Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9)
Sierra Madre, California 91024

  06 February 2020  

SHEET

L-3
HO RESIDENCE (Stonegate Lot 9) - Enlarged Illustrative Site / Planting Plan

942 Dale Street                            garyfishbeck.com
Pasadena, CA, 91106                         626 864 0038

Landscape Architecture
GARYFISHBECK

SCALE:  1/4"=1'-0" @ 30" x 42"
0 1 2 4 8 16

©  Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc.  All rights reserved.  Protected by Federal Copyright law.  No part
of this document may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, in whole or in part, at
any time intentionally or otherwise, without prior written permission from Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc. 
Note that copyright infringements include works that are duplicative or substantially similar.

SE
C

O
N

D
 F

LO
O

R

FI
RS

T 
FL

O
O

R

N
at

ha
ni

el 
Te

rr
ac

e

Guest Room
Viewing Garden

(Level Area)

Oak Grove

EXISTING NATURAL
WOODED AREA

(TO REMAIN UNDISTURBED)

LAWN
(LEVEL AREA)

North Baldwin Avenue

MASONRY BENCH WITH
DECORATIVE POT

MASONRY PILASTERS WITH
LIGHT, APPROX. 32” HEIGHT, COLOR
AND FINISH TO MATCH HOUSE

REINF. CONCRETE STEPS
WITH LOW CHEEKWALLS

CONCRETE WALKWAY
WITH DECORATIVE FINISH

LAWN SUBSTITUTE
(EG. MOWED YARROW)

SUNKEN PATIO
(SEE ARCH.)

PLANTER

PLANTER

REINF. CONCRETE DRIVEWAY
WITH DECOARTIVE FINISH

REINF. CONCRETE WALKWAY
WITH DECOARTIVE FINISH

REINF. CONCRETE RETAINING WALL,
COLOR AND FINISH TO MATCH HOUSE

SHADE TREE, TYP.
(E.G., NATIVE OAK)

SHADE TREES, TYP.
(E.G., NATIVE OAKS)

SHADE TREES, TYP.
(E.G., NATIVE OAKS)

ORNAMENTAL TREE, TYP.
MULTI-STEM

ORNAMENTAL TREE, TYP.
MULTI-STEM

SMALL SHRUBS AND
GROUNDCOVER

DROUGHT-TOLERANT
PERENNIAL GROUNDCOVER, TYP.

DROUGHT-TOLERANT
PERENNIAL GROUNDCOVER, TYP.

DROUGHT-TOLERANT
PERENNIAL GROUNDCOVER, TYP.

EXISTING SPLIT-FACE CMU RETAINING
WALL AT HYDRANT, APPROX. 30” HEIGHT

EXISTING SPLIT-FACE CMU RETAINING
WALL AT HYDRANT, APPROX. 30” HEIGHT

EXISTING SPLIT-FACE CMU RETAINING
WALL AT WATER METER TO REMAIN,
APPROX. 30” HEIGHT

EXISTING SPLIT-FACE CMU RETAINING WALL AT HYDRANT
TO BE REPLACED WITH CONTINUOUS RETAINING WALL

AS SHOWN,  APPROX. 30” HEIGHT

CONTINUOUS RETAINING WALL
TO REPLACE THE TWO EXISTING CMU WALLS,
APPROX. 30” HEIGHT, COLOR AND FINISH
TO MATCH HOUSE

REINF. CONCRETE RETAINING WALLS
MAX. 30” HEIGHT, COLOR AND FINISH
TO MATCH HOUSE

WALL FOUNTAIN, APPROX. 48” HEIGHT,
COLOR AND FINISH TO MATCH HOUSE

DECORATIVE CONCRETE
PATIO

DECORATIVE CONCRETE
PATIO

REINF. CONCRETE RETAINING WALL,
APPROX. 48” HEIGHT

REINF. CONCRETE RETAINING WALL,
WITH DRAIANGE CHANNEL,APPROX.
36” HEIGHT

DROUGHT-TOLERANT SHRUBS
AND GROUNDCOVER



T

NORTH

City Submittal
ROBERT HO
1 Nathanial Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9)
Sierra Madre, California 91024

  06 February 2020  

SHEET

L-4
HO RESIDENCE (Stonegate Lot 9) - Site Lighting Plan

942 Dale Street                            garyfishbeck.com
Pasadena, CA, 91106                         626 864 0038

Landscape Architecture
GARYFISHBECK

SCALE:  1/4"=1'-0" @ 30" x 42"
0 1 2 4 8 16

©  Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc.  All rights reserved.  Protected by Federal Copyright law.  No part
of this document may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, in whole or in part, at
any time intentionally or otherwise, without prior written permission from Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc. 
Note that copyright infringements include works that are duplicative or substantially similar.

SE
C

O
N

D
 F

LO
O

R

FI
RS

T 
FL

O
O

R

N
at

ha
ni

el 
Te

rr
ac

e

LAWN

BUILDING
COLUMNS (SEE ARCH)

North Baldwin Avenue

LAWN
SUBSTITUTE

SUNKEN PATIO
(SEE ARCH.)

L-1 (2)

L-2 (1)

L-2 (1)

L-2 (1)

L-2 (1)

L-2 (1)

L-6 (2)

L-7 (2)

L-7 (2)

L-5 (1)

L-1 (2)

L-3 (6) L-3 (4)

L-4 (4)

LIGHT FIXTURE SCHEDULE - LOW VOLTAGE SYSTEM

FX LUMINAIRE LUXOR CONTROLLER LUX-300-SS 1T

L-3

L-6

L-1 FX LUMINAIRE

FX LUMINAIRE

FX LUMINAIRE

FX LUMINAIRE

FX LUMINAIRE

L-2

L-5

L-4

CC LED UPLIGHT

PO LED WALL (STEP) LIGHT

CC-ZD-3LEDT-LS-AT

PO-ZD-1LEDT-SQ-AT

MO LED WALL LIGHT MO-ZD-3LEDT-SQ-AT

FC LED IN-GRADE LIGHT FC-ZD-3LEDT-CW-AT

FC LED IN-GRADE LIGHT FC-ZD-3LEDT-GW-90-AT

12V

12V

12V

12V

12V

4.2

4.2

2.0

4.2

4.5

4.2 4.5

4.5

2.4

4.5

4.2 4.5

2

6

10

4

1

TOTAL WATT MIN.

9.0

27.0

24.0

18.0

54.0

4.5

9.0FX LUMINAIRE PB WALL LIGHT

LL LED UNDER WATER LIGHT

PB-ZD-3LEDT-AT

LL-ZD-3LEDT-BS

12V 2

L-7 11.2 13.5FX LUMINAIRE 12V 4

145.5

KEY MANUFACTURER NAME ORDER NO. VOLT WATT VA TOTAL QTY TOTAL NOTES SYMBOLS:
UPLIGHT

WALL WASHER

DOWN LIGHT

PATH LIGHT

WALL (STEP) LIGHT

HANGING LIGHT

SCONCE LIGHT

WELL LIGHT

SUBMERSIBLE LIGHT

MICRO WELL LIGHT

ARCHITECTURAL FIXTURE (2)
(PILASTER- MOUNTED, LINE
VOLTAGE (SEE ARCH SPECS)

TRANSFORMER

NOTES:
1.  ALL FX LUMINAIRE FIXTURES TO BE EQUIPPED WITH
“AMBER FILTERS” (2,700K), AND 60-DEGREE BEAM
SPREADS, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. CONSULT WITH
FX LUMINAIRE REPRESENTATIVE TO DETERMINE BEST
NUMBER OF LEDS AND BEAM SPREADS.

2.  CONSULT WITH THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND
ELECTRICIAN REGARDING PROPOSED LOCATION(S)
OF TRANSFORMER(S).

3.  VERIFY ZONING (CIRCUITS) WITH THE LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT PRIOR TO INSTALLATION AND
PROGRAMMING.

4. LIGHT FIXTURE LOCATIONS SHOWN ON PLAN ARE
APPROXIMATE, AND MAY NEED TO BE ADJUSTED  IN
THE FIELD PER DIRECTION FROM THE LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT TO ACHIEVE DESIGN OBJECTIVES.
PROVIDE A MINIMUM OF 36” EXTRA COILED WIRE AT
EACH MOVABLE FIXTURE TO ACCOMMODATE
POSSIBLE NEED FOR MINOR ADJUSTMENTS OF FIXTURE
LOCATION.

5.  PROVIDE HIGHEST QUALITY GROUND STAKES BY
FX LUMINAIRE. 

5.  VERIFY THAT THE WATTAGES LISTED IN THE FIXTURE
SCHEDULE ARE ACCURATE, AND ENSURE THAT THE
PROPOSED TRANSFORMER(S) ARE ADEQUATELY SIZED
TO ACCOMMODATE PROPOSED LIGHTING AND THE
POSSIBILITY OF ADDITIONAL LIGHTING IN THE FUTURE
(I.E., PROVIDE APPROXIMATELY AN ADDITIONAL 25%
CAPACITY FOR FUTURE ADDITIONAL LIGHT FIXTURES.

6.  ENSURE THAT ALL NECESSARY UNDERGROUND
SLEEVING IS PROVIDED PRIOR TO INSTALLATION OF
CONCRETE PADS, PAVING AND OTHER STRUCTURES.

7.  ENSURE THAT TRANSFORMERS AND WIRING MEET
OR EXCEED REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICABLE
ELECTRICAL CODES.

8.  ENSURE THAT ALL LIGHT FIXTURES ARE DIMMABLE.

9.  ASSUME THAT THE THAT ENTIRE SITE LIGHTING SYSTEM
WILL BE CONTROLLED BY SMART HOME TECHNOLOGY.
CONSULT WITH THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND SMART
HOME CONSULTANT PRIOR TO THE PURCHASE OF SITE
LIGHTING PRODUCTS TO REFINE SELECTIONS,
ACCESSORIES AND CIRCUITRY IF NECESSARY.

PROGRAMMING:  (CONSULT WITH SMART HOME CONSULTANT)

PROGRAM A:
     “STANDARD EVENING” - DUSK UNTIL BEDTIME

PROGRAM B:
      “SECURITY” - BEDTIME UNTIL DAWN

PROGRAM C:
      “STANDARD FAMILY USE” - PER ACTIVATION BY SWITCH OR SMART PHONE 

PROGRAM D:
      “SOCIAL EVENTS” - PER ACTIVATION BY SWITCH OR SMART PHONE

PROGRAM E:
      “EMPTY HOUSE RANDOM” - PER ACTIVATION BY SWITCH OR SMART PHONE



SE
C

O
N

D
 F

LO
O

RFI
RS

T 
FL

O
O

R

North Baldwin Avenue

F F’

E E’

A

A’

B

C

D D’

C’

B’

PROPERTY LINE

FINISH GRADE
(NEIGHBORING PROPERTY)

REFER TO CIVIL ENGINEERTING AND/OR
STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR
WALL AND FOOTING DIMENSIONS AND
REINFORCEMENT, TYP.

REFER TO CIVIL ENGINEERING AND/OR
STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR
WALL AND FOOTING DIMENSIONS AND
REINFORCEMENT, TYP.

REFER TO CIVIL ENGINEERING AND/OR
STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR
WALL AND FOOTING DIMENSIONS AND
REINFORCEMENT, TYP.

REFER TO CIVIL ENGINEERING AND/OR
STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR
WALL AND FOOTING DIMENSIONS AND
REINFORCEMENT, TYP.

OFF-SITE COVENANT FOR DRAINAGE
DEVICE (PERF. PIPE AND/OR DRAIN BOARD
AS NECESSARY) (TBD)

WALL DRAINAGE PER
SOILS ENGINEER

WALKWAY
LANDINGMASONRY PILASTER

W/LIGHT FIXTURE

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

FINISH GRADE
(PLTD AREA)

SLOPE AT OAK GROVE

FINISH GRADE AT GARDEN
(SUNKEN PATIO
BEYOND)

REINF. CONC. RETAINING
WALL, STUCCO FINISH
TO MATCH HOUSE

FRONT
STEPS

CHEEKWALL

STEP
LIGHT

REINF. CONC. RETAINING
WALL, STUCCO FINISH TO
MATCH HOUSE

REINF. CONC. RETAINING
WALL, STUCCO FINISH TO
MATCH HOUSE

LAWN AREA AT REAR YARD
(LEVEL AREA)

LAWN AREA
(LEVEL)

A
LI

G
N

 W
/B

LD
G

FA
CA

D
E

A
LI

G
N

 W
/B

LD
G

FA
CA

D
E

PLANTING
SOIL 4” DIA PERFORATED

DRAIN PIPE (PLANTER
UNDERDRAINAGE)

PLANTING
SOIL

5’-0”
(APPROX.)

REFER TO STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR
WALL AND FOOTING DIMENSIONS AND
REINFORCEMENT, TYP.

FINISH GRADE
(SIDE YARD)

EXISTING CONC.
STREET CURB

MASONRY BENCH
W/DECOARTIVE PLANTER BOWL

REINF. CONC. RETAINING
WALL, STUCCO FINSH
TO MATCH HOUSE GUESTROOM

VIEWING GARDEN

PLANTED
AREA

PLANTED
AREA

HOUSE FACADE

VARIES
(SEE ARCH AND CIVIL SITE PLAN)

FG (VARIES)
SEE GRADING PLAN

TW ELEVATION TO BE DETERMINED
BY GRADE AT NEIGHBORING PROPERTY

1/2” = 1’-0”

1/2” = 1’-0”

1/2” = 1’-0”

1/2” = 1’-0”

SECTION A-A’   STUCCO RETAINING WALLS AT WEST PROPERTY LINE

SECTION B-B’   PILASTER AND CHEEK WALL AT FRONT STEPS
1/2” = 1’-0”

1/2” = 1’-0”

SECTION D-D’  STUCCO RETAINING WALLS AT EAST YARD

SECTION F-F’   STUCCO RETAINING WALLS AT REAR YARD B

SECTION C-C’   STUCCO RETAINING WALL AT FRONT YARD
C

F

D

E

A

10”
NOM.

3’
-0

”
(+

/-
)

30
”

M
A

X.

14”
NOM.

3’-0”

VA
RI

ES
(M

A
X 

5’
-0

” H
T)

REINF. CONC. PLANTER
WALL, STUCCO FINISH

FINISH GRADE
(REAR YARD)

EXISTING SLOPE
(NATURAL VEGETATION)

CONCRETE
DRAINAGE CHANNEL

PLANTED
AREA

8”
NOM.

3’-6”
8”

NOM.

4-
6”

3-
6”

 (+
/-

)

REFER TO CIVIL ENGINEERING AND/OR
STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR
WALL AND FOOTING DIMENSIONS AND
REINFORCEMENT, TYP.

SECTION E-E’   STONE VENEER FOUNTAIN WALL AT REAR WALL

FINISH GRADE
(REAR YARD)

EXISTING SLOPE
(NATURAL VEGETATION)

CONCRETE
DRAINAGE CHANNEL

PLANTING
SOIL LEVEL
(BEYOND)

PLANTING
SOIL

10”
NOM. 12” 6”

VOID

UPPER RESERVOIR
(VOLUME TBD)

STONE COPING

STONE COPING
(BEYOND)

WATER BASIN

RUSTICATED STONE
VENEER

PUMP
(RECIRCULATING SYSTEM)

8”
NOM.

3’-0”

5-
0”

3-
0”

 (+
/-

)

VA
RI

ES
(3

0”
 M

A
X.

)

18
”

N
at

ha
ni

el 
Te

rr
ac

e

North Baldwin Avenue

Oak Grove

Guestroom
Viewing
Garden

6”

30
”

18” 2’-6”

NORTH

City Submittal
ROBERT HO
1 Nathanial Terrace (Stonegate Lot 9)
Sierra Madre, California 91024

  06 February 2020  

SHEET

L-5
HO RESIDENCE (Stonegate Lot 9) - Preliminary Wall Details

942 Dale Street                            garyfishbeck.com
Pasadena, CA, 91106                         626 864 0038

Landscape Architecture
GARYFISHBECK

SCALE:  AS SHOWN

©  Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc.  All rights reserved.  Protected by Federal Copyright law.  No part
of this document may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, in whole or in part, at
any time intentionally or otherwise, without prior written permission from Gary Fishbeck Landscape Architecture, Inc. 
Note that copyright infringements include works that are duplicative or substantially similar.



INDEX MAP

P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 
F

O
R

:

M
R

.
 
R

O
B

E
R

T
 
H

O

2
6
3
3
 
S

.
 
B

A
L

D
W

I
N

 
A

V
E

A
R

C
A

D
I
A

,
 
C

A
 
9
1
0
0
7

E
G

L
 A

ss
oc

ia
te

s,
 I

nc
.

11
81

9 
G

O
L

D
R

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

, U
N

IT
 A

A
R

C
A

D
IA

, C
A

 9
10

06
T

E
L

: (
62

6)
-2

63
-3

58
8

F
A

X
: (

62
6)

-2
63

-3
59

9
E

-m
ai

l:
 m

ai
l@

eg
l8

8.
co

m

C-1

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
L

O
C

A
T

I
O

N
:

S
I
N

G
L

E
 
F

A
M

I
L

Y
 
H

O
U

S
E

L
O

T
 
9

,
 
T

R
A

C
T

 
5

4
0

1
6

S
I
E

R
R

A
 
M

A
D

R
E

,
 
C

A
 
9

1
0

2
4

A
P

N
:
 
5

7
6

2
-
0

3
0

-
0

1
0

VICINITY MAP

CONCEPTUAL GRADING & DRAINAGE PLAN

LOT DIMENSION PLAN
SCALE :  1"=30'-0"

C
-2 R H G E

ILE
CIVIL

AFO C
AINROF

R

TS TA

S

I
PR

S

SOFE

LGN -I

JN

NO
E

OI N LA
A G

EN
I

N

SI
EG

ET

ER

H

KNA

D

45846



CONCEPTUAL GRADING & DRAINAGE PLAN
SCALE :  1"=10'-0"

R H G E

ILE
CIVIL

AFO C
AINROF

R

TS TA

S

I
PR

S

SOFE

LGN -I

JN

NO
E

OI N LA
A G

EN
I

N

SI
EG

ET

ER

H

KNA

D

P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 
F

O
R

:

E
G

L
 A

ss
oc

ia
te

s,
 I

nc
.

11
81

9 
G

O
L

D
R

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

, U
N

IT
 A

A
R

C
A

D
IA

, C
A

 9
10

06
T

E
L

: (
62

6)
-2

63
-3

58
8

F
A

X
: (

62
6)

-2
63

-3
59

9
E

-m
ai

l:
 m

ai
l@

eg
l8

8.
co

m

C-2

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
L

O
C

A
T

I
O

N
:

S
I
N

G
L

E
 
F

A
M

I
L

Y
 
H

O
U

S
E

L
O

T
 
9

,
 
T

R
A

C
T

 
5

4
0

1
6

S
I
E

R
R

A
 
M

A
D

R
E

,
 
C

A
 
9

1
0

2
4

A
P

N
:
 
5

7
6

2
-
0

3
0

-
0

1
0

M
R

.
 
R

O
B

E
R

T
 
H

O

2
6
3
3
 
S

.
 
B

A
L

D
W

I
N

 
A

V
E

A
R

C
A

D
I
A

,
 
C

A
 
9
1
0
0
7

45846


	Top
	Bottom

